

COMBATING FRAUDS AGAINST THE ELDERLY

HEARING BEFORE THE SPECIAL COMMITTEE ON AGING UNITED STATES SENATE

'NINETY-EIGHTH CONGRESS

FIRST SESSION

WASHINGTON, D.C.

MARCH 1, 1983

てらの人の



Printed for the use of the Special Committee on Aging

U.S. GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE WASHINGTON : 1983

19-930 O



U.S. Department of Justice National Institute of Justice

57

This document has been reproduced exactly as received from the person or organization originating it. Points of view or opinions stated in this document are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official position or policies of the National Institute of Justice.

Permission to reproduce this cupyrighted-material has been Public Domain

United States Senate

to the National Criminal Justice Reference Service (NCJRS).

Further reproduction outside of the NCJRS system requires permission of the comments ht owner.

SPECIAL COMMITTEE ON AGING

JOHN HEINZ, Pennsylvania, Chairman

PETE V. DOMENICI, New Mexico CHARLES H. PERCY, Illinois NANCY LANDON KASSEBAUM, Kansas WILLIAM S. COHEN, Maine LARRY PRESSLER, South Dakota CHARLES E. GRASSLEY, Iowa PETE WILSON, California

JOHN GLENN, Ohio LAWTON CHILES, Florida JOHN MELCHER, Montana DAVID PRYOR, Arkansas BILL BRADLEY, New Jersey QUENTIN N. BURDICK, North Dakota CHRISTOPHER J. DODD, Connecticut

JOHN C. ROTHER, Staff Director and Chief Counsel DIANE LIFSEY, Minority Staff Director ROBIN L. KROPF, Chief Clerk

(II)

Opening statement by Senator John Statement by Senator David Pryor ...

CHRONOLOGIC

Federal Trade Commission:

CONTENTS

Heinz, chairman	ł
CAL LIST OF WITNESSES	
r	
ler er	
er C., Assistant Chief Postal Inspector, U.S. orge C. Davis, Assistant General Counsel;	
Branch banied by Elaine Biddle, daughter; and lvania State Police sident, National Association of Consumer	
director, office of consumer protection,	
inal intelligence analyst, Illinois Depart-	

(III)

En L'AL A NCJRS JAN 11 1984 ACQUISITIONS يې همېرونه د د وې د د و

COMBATING FRAUDS AGAINST THE ELDERLY

The committee met pursuant to notice, at 9:07 a.m., in room 538, Dirksen Senate Office Building, Hon. John Heinz, chairman, presiding.

Present: Senators Heinz, Cohen, Melcher, and Pryor. Also present: John C. Rother, staff director and chief counsel; Bill Halamandaris, director of oversight; David Holton, chief investigator; Kate Clarke, communications director; Robin L. Kropf, chief clerk; Linda Goldman, staff assistant; and Eugene Cummings, printing assistant.

OPENING STATEMENT BY SENATOR JOHN HEINZ, CHAIRMAN

Chairman HEINZ. Ladies and gentlemen, we are having a little trouble with our sound system, but in the interest of time, I think we will proceed anyway.

In 1981, the Senate Committee on Aging held a field hearing in my home State of Pennsylvania to review the local impact of consumer frauds on the elderly. The hearing revealed that such frauds were indeed a significant problem with potentially enormous implications for the elderly.

In order to determine the dimensions of this problem, the committee recently conducted a national survey of responsible State and local officials. Over 1,300 questionnaires were mailed to police chiefs, district attorneys, and consumer protection offices. The pur-pose of the questionnaire was to assess the nature and frequency of consumer and economic frauds, the impact of these frauds on the elderly, and the resources available to combat these abuses.

The committee report that I am releasing today—and I think copies of it are available to all interested people—details those findings, and in summary, concludes with the following five points. First, consumer frauds are widespread and pervasive. They touch every aspect of the older consumer's life from health care to hous-

ing. Second, consumer and economic frauds are increasing. Respondents report an increase of about 12 percent a year. Third, the elderly are considered the prime target for these

abuses. Over 77 percent of those responding indicated that the elderly are more often the targets of fraud than the younger population.

6x

TUESDAY, MARCH 1, 1983

U.S. SENATE,

SPECIAL COMMITTEE ON AGING, Washington, D.C.

Fourth, those who perpetrate these crimes are well organized, sophisticated, and effective. Some respondents reported "schools for scoundrels" organized by con artists to tutor other cons in the fine art of making a "sting." Police reported it was not uncommon for cons to exchange "hit lists"—the names of those they had successfully defrauded—upon leaving one location for another.

Fifth, despite the increase in the level of fraud, resources available to combat this problem are diminishing. Federal programs funded by LEAA have been eliminated. Other Federal funds earmarked for consumer service have been lost in block grants. Thirty-five percent of State consumer offices reported reductions in funds. Forty-seven percent indicated that they had been level funded.

We also found in this survey that there are 10 frauds that one would rate as most harmful to the elderly. They are: Quackery and medical-related frauds, such as phony arthritis or cancer cures; home repair and improvement cons; bunco schemes, such as the "pigeon drop" and the "bank examiner"; insurance frauds; social cons which feed on a victim's compassion and loneliness, such as phony charity promotions; housing, land sale and rental frauds; business and investment schemes, such as work at home programs; nursing home frauds; automobile purchase and repair schemes; and deceptive funeral sales practices.

While a precise measurement of the damage done by these deceits is incalculable, it is clear that millions of people are defrauded of billions of dollars each year. The Arthritis Foundation estimates \$1 billion is lost annually to phony arthritis cures alone. Over \$5 billion is said to be lost to business and investment frauds, while a single land fraud may exceed \$1 million.

Witnesses today will speak to these problems and present solutions. We will hear how the elderly are defrauded, and see the impact of these abuses on one of its victims. We will hear from representatives of State, local, and Federal agencies charged with preventing and controlling these abuses.

The con men who steal from the elderly take more than money. Their theft also involves dignity, security, and peace of mind. The English language is not adequate to characterize their conduct, but our laws should be adequate to stop them. To that end, I look forward to today's testimony.

Senator John Glenn, the ranking minority member of this committee, and Senator Larry Pressler cannot be with us today because of prior commitments. They have, however, submitted statements for the record, and without objection they will be inserted at this point.

[The statements of Senators Glenn and Pressler follow:]

STATEMENT OF SENATOR JOHN GLENN

Mr. Chairman, I am pleased that the Senate Special Committee on Aging is conducting this hearing to examine consumer fraud schemes and the harsh impact these crimes have on elderly citizens. Consumer fraud practices are a major part of the rampant, growing crime problem in America.

In 1981, the Aging Committee examined the national crime epidemic as it affects senior citizens in a hearing entitled "Older Americans: Fighting the Fear of Crime." We found that many elderly persons have become prisoners in their own homes due to their fear of crime. A recent Department of Justice study revealed that three out

of four elderly persons deliberately limit their activities because of a fear of crime. However, as today's hearing will demonstrate, elderly persons are far from secure in their own homes, no matter how many dead-bolts and "burglar-bars" they have installed on their doors and windows. Even the most expensive electronic home se-curity system will not protect an elderly person against phony insurance salesmen, home repair con artists, or bogus medical "cures" that arrive in the mailbox.

Swindlers see the elderly as easy marks for several reasons. Many older people live on social security and pensions that are supplemented by savings. They may be looking for ways to increase their incomes through investments and work-at-home opportunities. Many of these business ventures are sound and legitimate, but some are ideal settings for fraud. Many elderly persons worry about inflation and energy costs. Con artists recognize this concern and take advantage of the elderly through phony energy conservation and home insulation gimmicks. And criminals prey on the senior citizen's most prominent fear-the fear of medical catastrophe. Poor "medigap" and cancer insurance policies, unnecessary and expensive hearing aids, and worthless arthritis "cures" represent just a few of the medical frauds perpetrated against senior citizens.

Before we attempt to combat consumer frauds against the elderly, we must identi-fy the size and scope of the problem. The Committee on Aging has conducted a na-tional survey of State and local officials to determine the frequency of consumer frauds against the elderly, to define the impact of frauds on the lives of the elderly, and to identify resources and strategies being employed to guard against these crimes. Respondents to the committee's survey included officials of State consumer affairs offices, chiefs of police in large and small cities, district attorneys, and State attorneys general. The results of the survey indicate that consumer frauds are indeed a major problem for elderly citizens. The elderly are targeted as easy marks by con artists. Over 77 percent of the officials surveyed indicated that the elderly are more frequently defrauded than the younger population. When victimized, the elderly suffer disproportionate losses and are slower to recover-in financial, physical, and mental terms.

The committee survey revealed the following 10 most harmful frauds against the elderly:

(1) Quackery and medical-related frauds.

(3) Bunco schemes.

(4) Insurance frauds.

(5) Social frauds.

(6) Housing and land frauds.

(7) Business opportunity and investment frauds.

(8) Nursing home frauds.

(9) Automobile frauds; and

(10) Funeral frauds.

What can we do to stem this wave of consumer frauds against our elderly citizens? An effective response must unite Federal, State, and local government officials, citizen groups and neighborhood associations, business leaders, and individual senior citizens in a cooperative effort. We need to enact and strongly enforce tough crime-fighting and consumer protection laws.

The bill will help the Postal Service to more effectively enforce the existing laws services, home solicitation, and insurance sales.

The most important way elderly persons can protect themselves against these frauds is through consumer education and by following a few commonsense precautions. Older consumers must be aware of get-rich-quick opportunities, traveling salespersons, and telephone solicitations. Senior consumers should shop around to check prices and performance before purchasing products and services. They should check with officials before entering into any major transactions, and they should clearly understand any written contract before signing it. Most importantly, seniors should report any suspicious offers to their local law enforcement agency immediately.

As the ranking minority member of the Senate Special Committee on Aging, I am pleased to join with other committee members in releasing a report entitled "Consumer Frauds and Elderly Persons: A Growing Problem." This information paper

(2) Home repair and improvement frauds.

I have cosponsored S. 450, the "Mail Order Consumer Protection Amendments of 1983." This bill will increase the investigatory and enforcement powers of the Postal Inspection Service to more effectively combat consumer fraud through the mails.

against false advertising. Also, every State has some form of consumer protection statute. Other State laws specifically protect consumers in the areas of home repair

explains the results of the committee survey, gives tips on how to combat frauds against the elderly, and includes a consumer directory of Federal, State, and local sources of help.

STATEMENT OF SENATOR LARRY PRESSLER

Mr. Chairman, I would like to thank you for organizing this hearing on this very important subject. Of all the investigative work done by this committee, the work done on elderly consumer fraud is among the most important.

done on elderly consumer fraud is among the most important. Previous investigative hearings have focused on fraud in Government programs, such as medicare. I believe it is important for us to look into problems such as this. The nature of consumer fraud as an act that exploits people on a very personal level, however, makes this an extremely distressing problem. The majority of the residents of my home State of South Dakota live in rural or

The majority of the residents of my home State of South Dakota live in rural or small-town settings, and as a result many of them conduct a great deal of business through the mail. For this reason, they are highly susceptible to mail fraud, and I have a special interest in this particular subject.

It seems that the list of the different types of fraud that are common is almost endless. The more information we can collect and disseminate on this subject, the better prepared our people will be to avoid being victimized by perpetrators of fraud schemes. I think this is an extremely worthwhile use of our time and energy, and I look forward to the testimony of our witnesses this morning.

Chairman HEINZ. It is my understanding that our panel consisting of the five members of the Federal Trade Commission is indeed present.

Chairman Miller and the others, would you come forward?

As the members of the Federal Trade Commission take their seats, let me observe that, as I indicated in my opening comment, the committee survey has identified 10 frauds which have the most harmful impact on the elderly. Many of those frauds involve industries and market practices within the jurisdiction of the Federal Trade Commission. We are very grateful to have the Commission here with us this morning. We are delighted to have Chairman Miller, and also his four other colleagues—Commissioners Bailey, Clanton, Douglas, and Pertschuk.

We are first going to hear from Chairman Miller, who will present an overview of the Commission's activities in relation to the elderly, and then it is the Chair's intention to call upon each Commissioner to make whatever brief statement they see fit.

Once Chairman Miller has testified, and the other Commissioners have made whatever comments they want, then the committee will ask questions.

Chairman Miller, we welcome you here today. We are glad to have you and your colleagues with us. We understand you have another meeting scheduled not too long from now, and obviously, you and we want to move as expeditiously as possible.

We made a special effort, because of that meeting, to schedule you first. Normally, we schedule the people who have the responsibility of solving the problem after we have presented the problem, but in order to accommodate you, we wanted to have you all here, and we do hope you will stay long enough to answer a few questions.

So, Chairman Miller, would you please proceed?

STATEMENT OF JAMES C. MILLER III, CHAIRMAN, FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION

Chairman MILLER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

We are very pleased to be here, and I thank you so much for making these special arrangements so that we can address some matters that are of significant import to the Commission, as well as to all Americans.

I would like to, for myself and on behalf of my colleagues, compliment the committee for holding these hearings and for developing the survey, which we plan to mine for all it is worth, in developing and helping to develop our approaches to these important problems.

Mr. Chairman, I have submitted a prepared statement, and with your permission, I would ask that it be inserted in the record and that I simply summarize my statement.

Chairman HEINZ. Without objection, so ordered.¹ Chairman MILLER. Thank you, sir.

Let me just tell you briefly about the Commission's overall consumer protection program. Our focus really is on basic consumer protection, in particular, preventing fraud, insuring truthful advertising, and making businesses keep their promises.

We feel the elderly are particularly vulnerable to some of these abuses. Many of them live on fixed incomes, and many of them are not nearly as mobile as other consumers.

Three aspects of our consumer protection program, I think, deserve special mention.

First, we have increased our commitment to traditional law enforcement. For example, we recently charged four companies with outright fraud, including the largest marketer of investment diamonds. We also charged a builder of new homes with failing to live up to its warranties.

Second, we are enforcing the Commission's rules to prevent fraud. For example, we find that mail order problems are the largest source of complaints to the Commission. Scrutiny of mail order fraud is a high priority for us, and I think it is a high priority for elderly citizens.

Third, we are emphasizing consumer education directed at the elderly. For example, we have developed a project jointly with the AARP to help the elderly recognize the problems that they face and help them to deal with their problems more effectively. The projects will help them detect various kinds of frauds, including those associated with door-to-door sales. It will also help the elderly complain effectively, and direct them to contact local, State, or Federal law enforcement officials. Jointly with the AARP, we have also developed two programs on housing alternatives, including independent homes, and rest homes. We have distributed materials on generic drugs, warranties, equal credit opportunity, and other issues, to let consumers know their rights.

Now let me deal with a few specific areas that I understand are of particular interest to this committee.

First, the Commission's health care program. Mr. Chairman, as you know, the Commission has stood united in its opposition in recent years to an effort to have the Commission's authority in the health care area taken away. I think nothing is more important in our reauthorization than that the Commission retain the authority

¹ See page 7.

to look at commercial practices of medical professions and other professionals, and insure that they, too, abide by the Federal laws against fraud, deception, price-fixing, and boycotts. And I think this is of particular concern to older Americans.

Our health care program increases competition and lowers cost. For example, as a result of the AMA case physicians can now advertise that they can make housecalls, something that is very important to the elderly, and that whether they are accessible by. public transportation. As a result of the American Dental Association consent, dentists can now advertise about dentures. That is very important. We have also addressed vision care. As you know, Mr. Chairman, approximately 90 percent of elderly Americans wear corrective lenses. The Commission's eyeglass rule insures that consumers can obtain a prescription so they can comparison shop for their corrective lenses. In our eyeglasses II proceeding, we are investigating the possibility that there are unnecessary restraints on competition in optometry resulting from current restrictions on the use of trade names, opening of branch offices, and limitations on where a company or a practitioner may be located. We have new investigations and new initiatives in this area, including investigations of the advertising of over-the-counter products, including those meant to deal with arthritis; the marketing of nonsurgical treatments to combat signs of aging; and the advertising of food or special diet needs.

Second, the Commission's housing and land sales programs. We are very interested in the time-sharing problem. This is a new and growing industry that has very many positive aspects. But the nature of the industry is one where there is a potential for problems. And we are currently involved in a number of investigations.

In the housing area, we are also investigating the warranty practices of two builders.

Third, we have a program to review franchises and other investment opportunities. For example, we have charged two companies with violating our franchise rule and are seeking penalties and other redress. We are investigating the sale of filing services for oil and gas lotteries. We have authorized injunctive actions against marketers of investment diamonds, as I mentioned, we are investigating sales of other hard assets and cash commodity investments.

Fourth, we have several investigations in the area of age discrimination and credit including one where we believe the companies have discouraged the elderly from seeking credit; another for allegedly applying higher standards to the elderly for the purpose of approving credit; and a third for allegedly granting credit to the elderly only on more restrictive conditions.

Now, I would hasten to add that some of the very good work of our economists and some econometric modeling has aided us in identifying companies where this kind of discrimination might exist and getting evidence on this kind of discrimination in a much more cost-effective way.

Now let me address an issue I know is controversial, and that is the funeral industry, and I will try to be brief. I think this subject deserves mention because the funeral industry is one where there may well be market imperfections, as an economist would call them. People do their purchasing under stress, and usually they

the Federal Trade Commission to address.

Last July the Commission approved a rule in the funeral area. I dissented from that decision and recommended a reopening of the record. I did not think there was reliable evidence about how the industry operated, or evidence on how the remedy would solve the problems, and I think it ignored some opportunities for improvements. But perhaps most importantly, I felt that the evidentiary standards that the courts would require of us were not met, and therefore, in the end, there was a keen likelihood that the Commission's effort would be overturned in the courts. Therefore, I dissented from that decision.

Now, I do share the concerns of my fellow Commissioners that this industry may need some special attention. But I think we need to act in a way that is finely tuned, that will be effective, and that will stand the test of the courts.

As you know, Mr. Chairman, the Congress vetoed the Commission's used car rule. The constitutionality of the used car rule is now before the Supreme Court of the land. Under the provisions of the FTC Improvements Act, I proposed the issuance of another used car rule after the congressional veto that would deal with the two main problems we found-first, misrepresentations by dealers about responsibilities for repair, and second, what an "as is" sale means. Therefore, I proposed a rule that would contain a warning that oral promises are hard to enforce, an explanation of an "as is" sale, identification of the major systems of an automobile, and information on warranties provided and their terms. This would all be on the sticker in the window.

In conclusion, I think the Commission has acted to address the concerns of older Americans. We bring cases against fraud and the kinds of cases that you identified in your study, Mr. Chairman. We bring cases that have benefits not only in terms of the redress to the consumers injured, but also have a deterrent value.

One thing I would like to indicate, if I might, is that we are going to be pressing for tougher penalties and more consumer redress for violations of our rules. The deterrent effect is very, very important.

We look forward Mr. Chairman, and members of the committee, to working with you in the future on these and other problems facing the elderly, and we hope to solicit your ideas. Whenever we can be of assistance to you, we will be glad to do so.

Thank you.

Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, my colleagues and I appreciate this opportunity to describe some of the Federal Trade Commission's activities addressing the problems faced by our Nation's elderly consumers. We would also like to compliment the committee for holding this hearing and for its survey of areas of fraud of most concern to older Americans. The Commission will certainly make use of your data in its continued effort to allocate law enforcement resources in a costeffective manner.

Chairman HEINZ. Chairman Miller, thank you very much. [The prepared statement of Chairman Miller follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF JAMES C. MILLER III

The Commission places a high priority on providing basic consumer protection preventing fraud, insuring truthful advertising, and requiring that businesses keep their promises. This is particularly important to the elderly. They tend to be vulnerable to unlawful practices in these areas because they often live on fixed incomes, and a substantial portion of them are less mobile than other consumers.

Three aspects of the Commission's consumer protection effort deserve particular mention. First, we have increased our commitment to traditional law enforcement. For example, we have recently charged four companies with outright fraud. One case involves a marketer of investment diamonds with sales of more than \$100 million annually. Another complaint accused a company that sells services in connection with oil and gas leasing of misrepresenting the value of its services. We are also suing firms that fail to honor their promises. For example, the Commission recently charged a builder of new homes not only with misrepresentations about its homes, but with failure to live up to its written warranties.

Second, we are actively enforcing the Commission's rules designed to protect consumers in the marketplace. For example, mail-order problems are the single largest source of consumer complaints to the Commission, and an area of particular interest to the elderly, who often must rely on such services because of their lessened mobility. In 1980, a report by the Government Accounting Office found that the Commission had not devoted adequate resources to this area. The Commission now has made scrutiny of mail-order programs one of its highest priorities. Third, we recognize that, despite best efforts, we cannot remedy each and every

Third, we recognize that, despite best efforts, we cannot remedy each and every problem, and that our intervention usually occurs only after consumers are injured. Thus, we bolster our enforcement programs with efforts to communicate to consumers the rights they have under existing laws and Commission rules. In that way, consumers are better able to protect themselves from being the victims of unlawful activity.

We have given greater emphasis to informing the elderly about high-risk marketplace frauds. For example, nearing completion is a training program that we have developed with the American Association of Retired Persons (AARP). This program will enable consumers to detect questionable solicitations more quickly and bring them to the attention of law enforcement officials more effectively. Of particular concern are door-to-door sales and mail-order shopping. In addition, we have begun work with the AARP on two other training programs, both involving housing. One program deals with independent living, the other with alternatives, such as nursing homes. We are very pleased that the AARP plans to distribute these programs through their network of 5,000 local affiliates around the country.

Other types of consumer education initiatives include information about a wide range of issues. For example, we are developing radio public service announcements to aid consumers in shopping for used cars. We also have available materials on topics ranging from generic drugs and warranties, to consumers' rights under the Equal Credit Opportunity Act.

Let me now turn to some of the areas in which I understand this committee has specific interest.

Consumers aged 65 and older spend almost three times as much on health care per capita as do consumers aged 19 to 64. Because many persons over 65 live on fixed incomes, Commission activities aimed at preventing anticompetitive conduct in the health care industry is of substantial benefit to them. The purpose of our efforts in this area is to stimulate and strengthen competitive forces, thereby decreasing the need for Government regulation, increasing consumer choice among providers of health care services, and lowering their cost. For example, in the AMA case, the Commission struck down restrictions on truthful advertising by physicians and on physicians working on a salaried basis for hospitals and health maintenance organizations (HMO's). Physicians are now free to provide consumers with truthful information about the services they offer, including information of critical importance to older Americans—for example, prices for routine services; office hours; whether they accept medicare reimbursement; whether they offer discounts to the elderly; whether they make house calls; and whether they are accessible by public transportation. Hospitals and HMO's are now permitted to employ physicians on a salaried basis, often leading to lower costs. Likewise, the Commission's consent agreement with the American Dental Association allows dentists to advertise such services as fitting dentures-giving many older patients useful information and the benefits of greater price competition.

It comes as no surprise to learn that 9 out of 10 persons over the age of 65 wear corrective lenses. Two of the Commission's programs are of particular relevance here. The first, the "eyeglasses rule," gives consumers the right to obtain a copy of their prescription after having their eyes examined. With that prescription, consumers are then able to comparison shop for eyeglasses, and realize the benefits of the resultant increase in price competition among eyeglass providers.

In its "eyeglasses II" proceeding, the Commission has instructed the staff to investigate various restrictions on the commercial aspects of the practice of optometry. Rules that prevent optometrists from practicing under a trade name, working for a lay corporation, locating their practice in a commercial setting, and from operating branch offices are being studied to determine whether they affect the availability and price of vision care services.

Among the new initiatives directed at health care fraud, the staff is investigating an array of over-the-counter drug products designed to treat infirmities suffered by the elderly, including arthritis. Many of these products are allegedly bogus remedies purchased by desperately ill elderly persons. We are also investigating the marketing and provision of nonsurgical treatments to combat the signs of aging.

Products marketed specifically to consumers with health problems are also of concern. For example, we are investigating advertising claims about foods marketed to consumers with special diet needs.

Another area of continued concern is housing and land sales. Within this program, we have focused considerable resources on time-sharing, a rapidly growing new industry with annual revenues that reached an estimated \$1.5 billion in 1981. This growth has been accompanied by an increase in the number of consumer complaints lodged against developers and marketers of time-share units. To respond to the growing number of complaints, we formed a time-share task force in January 1982, to coordinate our investigations in this area. In addition, we are investigating five time-share developers and marketers. Because time-sharing is relatively new, we are particularly interested in determining whether consumers understand the nature and limits of this form of property ownership.

In the area of housing, we have conducted an investigation of the warranty practices of a housing manufacturer that allegedly failed to honor its warranty obligations by claiming that it had gone out of business. We are also conducting investigations of the warranty practices of two builders.

We continue to have an active program of enforcement under the franchise rule, an area where there may be significant fraud affecting the elderly. For example, the Commission recently charged two companies with fraud and violations of this rule, and is seeking civil penalties and consumer redress. One company sold snack food distributorships, and the other sold amusement game business opportunities. Several additional cases are pending in this program.

Franchises are not the only type of investment opportunity where there are serious consumer protection problems. For example, as mentioned earlier, the Commission has pursued an investigation of filing services for oil and gas leases, and has authorized injunctive actions against the Nation's largest marketer of investment diamonds to consumers. We are also investigating deceptive sales practices and outright fraud in the sale of other hard assets and cash commodities.

Age discrimination in granting credit is another area of Commission involvement that is of obvious concern to elderly Americans. Several investigations of alleged age discriminations by financial companies are underway. The practices include denial of credit to the elderly, discouraging the elderly from applying for credit, subjecting the elderly to a higher standard for credit approval, granting credit with more restrictive terms, and failing to consider protected sources of income, such as social security and retirement income.

Another area that deserves the Commission's close attention is the funeral industry. Although funerals are a major purchase, consumers often make their purchase decisions under stress, lacking the benefit of prior purchase experience. Without sufficient information and opportunity to make informed choices, consumers may be harmed.

As you know, last July, a majority of the Commission approved an industrywide rule in this area, which was submitted to Congress for review under the veto provisions of the FTC Improvements Act of 1980. The stated purpose of that rule is to protect consumers in their purchase of funeral services. However, I dissented from the Commission's action on the rule, convinced that preferred options were being ignored.

The Commission's lengthy investigation of the funeral industry disclosed the existence of potential problems of unfairness and deception. Despite its bulk, however, the record was devoid of reliable evidence describing how the industry works or the extent of its alleged problems. Moreover, we had no evidence demonstrating how the proposed remedies would solve these alleged problems. For this reason, I recommended reopening the record to consider updated and reliable data, including the Commission's own highly probative, postrecord "baseline" study of the industry. Without reliable evidence, the Commission has no basis for knowing whether the rule addresses real problems or instead attacks symptoms. I am concerned, for example, that the rule ignores evidence of anticompetitive practices, such as threats and boycotts, that may have discouraged the development of low-cost, alternative funeral services. Moreover, the paucity of evidence makes the rule vulnerable to a successful legal challenge.

I share your and my fellow Commissioners' concerns about the effects of funeral industry practices on elderly consumers. Because the current rule promises benefits I do not believe it can deliver, I continue to believe its promulgation is an exercise in deception rather than true consumer protection.

The committee's survey also found automobile sales fraud to be a major source of concern among consumers. Some of that concern may stem from the sales practices of the used car industry. I have proposed a revised used car rule to address the industry's two major problems: Misrepresentations regarding dealers' responsibilities to make repairs after sales, and the lack of consumer understanding of dealers' responsibilities when a car is sold "as is." The revised rule would require used car dealers to post a window sticker with information on the warranties provided and their terms, an admonition that written promises are easier to enforce than spoken promises, a statement advising consumers that they may have additional "implied warranty" rights under State law, a clear explanation of what is meant by the term "as is," as well as an identification of the major mechanical and safety systems of the car and whether each is warranted or offered "as is." In short, the rule would require dealers to tell consumers—up front and in writing—who will pay for repairs if a car proves to be defective, whether or not the defect is known at the time of sale. Most importantly, it would do so without creating the uncertainty about the dealer's responsibilities that led Congress to reject the previous rule. Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, as you can see, the Commission is

Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, as you can see, the Commission is quite active in addressing the consumer problems of older Americans. Moreover, in recent months we have given additional emphasis to cases involving outright fraud. The orders resulting from these cases will benefit consumers—not only in terms of the redress they receive, but in the increased deterrence value produced by welldirected and vigorous law enforcement. We look forward to working with this committee in the year ahead in identifying and targeting other fraudulent activities affecting older Americans.

Chairman HEINZ. Let me ask other members of the Commission if they have any brief comments or statements. Commissioner Bailey.

Commissioner BAILEY. Mr. Chairman, thank you very much, I would be happy to take my turn in the seniority line and let Commissioner Clanton go first, but if you want me to, I will.

Chairman HEINZ. What is your seniority line on the Commission? We always observe seniority here.

Commissioner BAILEY. I come very close to the end. [Laughter.] Chairman HEINZ. All right, Commissioner Clanton.

STATEMENT OF DAVID A. CLANTON, COMMISSIONER, FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION

Commissioner CLANTON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Just some very brief comments. I echo very much what the Chairman has said about the kinds of programs we have. I think, by and large, much of what we are doing in the consumer protection area, even if it is not always directly oriented to the elderly, has had a large indirect effect on them. In fact, I think there is virtually nothing that we are involved in that does not have some special impact for elderly consumers who just are not in the position to shop as readily, to move around and make the decisions that other consumers are. As a result of that, what we are doing here by and large is very good.

I do disagree with the Chairman, as you probably know, on the funeral rule. We have a record that supports action. It is a transaction that far and away is different in its whole nature and scope from any other consumer transaction. There just is not arm'slength bargaining because of the obvious emotional stress and tension that exists in that situation. What we tried to do is develop a rule that is minimally intrusive in the sense of trying to regulate every detailed aspect of that business, but at the same time, provides incentives to consumers, gives them information, makes it easier for them to bargain, and to decide what kinds of services and products they want. The record supports both the fact that there is a problem and the fact that this kind of remedy makes some sense.

I just would like to isolate one additional issue that the Chairman did not specifically allude to-which is important. That is the question of speed of action. The Commission realizes the importance of moving quickly on matters. In past years, the Commission's problem was in part related to the administrative processwhere we have to bring a case, have it go before an administrative law judge, then reviewed by the Commission and the courts. And because of action in the midseventies, we obtained clearer authority to go directly into court to get injunctive relief, to get redress, and so forth, where there was clearcut evidence of fraud, garden variety-type deception. Those cases do not deal with a need for special expertise of an administrative body. The law is pretty clear. The question is, What are the facts; what is the kind of relief that is effective? We have been pursuing the latter route much more frequently in the last few years, that is, going into court, seeking prompt relief-in some cases, in fact, in one extreme case, we even sought an ex parte freezing of assets because of the fear that those assets would be dissipated. So, as a practical matter, if we are able to move more quickly and more effectively, we can deal better with some problems that specifically affect the elderly, such as fraud. The difficulty that States have in many cases is they are just not in a position to chase these people around the country. I think we are in a better position than the States in this regard. Admittedly, in some cases, the problem is severe enough to deserve criminal action which, obviously, we cannot pursue. Nevertheless, if we are able to move quickly and effectively, to get injunctive relief and monetary redress, that can be very valuable. I think we are seeing some of the benefits of that.

Thank you.

Chairman HEINZ. Thank you very much, Commissioner Clanton. Commissioner Pertschuk.

STATEMENT OF MICHAEL PERTSCHUK, COMMISSIONER, FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION

Commissioner PERTSCHUK. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I have a short statement. First of all, Mr. Chairman, in undertaking your survey of the economic victimization of the elderly, you and your committee have performed a critical service; there is no doubt of it.

Your landmark study shatters the complacent myth of the uniformly benign marketplace—the myth that older Americans and

other consumers no longer need the vigorous force of Government law enforcement to police unfair and deceptive business practices.

Just for one example, as you know, within the last 2 weeks in every congressional district, delegations of funeral directors have converged on their Congressmen-and perhaps a few Senators-insisting that there is no need for a Federal Trade Commission funeral cost disclosure rule. There is no problem, they insist; no need for Government interference in what they call "the fiduciary trust between the bereaved and the funeral director."

Your survey, which finds funeral abuses among the leading 10 consumer complaints of the elderly, confirms the need for action. Indeed, your study dramatically confirms what the FTC has too slowly come to understand-that the problems of older Americans are and must be a principal concern of the Federal Trade Commission.

Among your top frauds upon the elderly, seven are on the Commission's agenda: Health-related frauds, "bunco" schemes, housing and land fraud, nursing home problems, automobile sales fraud, business opportunity and investment frauds, and funeral industry practices.

In short, your study confirms the Commission's agenda, but it also raises serious challenges to the Commission's priorities and performance. The Federal Trade Commission has been making promises to older Americans for more than a decade. The funeral investigation, for example, was begun in 1972. It is now a decade old.

The truth is, Mr. Chairman, that the Commission has yet to deliver on many of its promises. To the credit of the Commission's present leadership, significant cases have been and are being brought in three areas: Phony investment schemes, credit discrimination against the elderly, and anticompetitive restrictions in the health-related professions.

The committee should note, however, that the Commission faces inherent limitations in the effective pursuit of hardcore fraud. With its powers limited to civil penalties, the Commission historically has had limited success in reaching and effectively policing what is essentially criminal conduct. The Justice Department with its grand juries, the Postal authorities, and the States' attorneys general are generally better suited to prosecute the fringe operators. But where we have some realistic hope, not only of ordering a halt to such behavior, but of recovering assets to be used in reimbursing defrauded consumers, then I certainly support Commission action.

The Commission, as the Chairman has indicated, has continued to challenge anticompetitive restrictions in the professional services, particularly in the health-related professions, especially among physicians, dentists, and optometrists, all areas of prime concern in your survey. Yet the Commission's proposed hearing aid rule, which treats a costly, sometimes painful transaction of critical importance to elderly consumers, has languished.

With the record complete and the hearings concluded, the Commission in October 1979 asked its staff to prepare final recommendations on the proposal to require a 30-day cooling-off period to enable hearing aid consumers to determine whether the hearing aid is suitable for their particular need. Yet the final staff proposals have not yet been brought before the Commission for action.

Your survey identified mobile home problems as a key issue for older Americans. Yet the Commission's proposed mobile home warranty-performance rule has not been sent forward for action to the Commission, although hearings on the proposed rule were completed in July 1978. Today mobile homes are perhaps the main source of moderately priced new housing available to retired Americans on limited, fixed incomes. The record contains substantial evidence of serious flaws in warranty performance in the delivery of mobile homes, yet action by the Commission does not appear imminent.

Mr. Chairman, you are exactly right when you express-and I Unhappily, the hard truth is that the Federal Trade Commission

quote you—the "startling conclusion that frauds against the elderly are increasing while resources to combat fraud are diminishing.' will not soon meet its share of the responsibility for policing the economic exploitation of older Americans. The administration of the Commission is presently committed to policies, priorities, and budget allocations which deflect resources away from actions responsive to the very wrongs your survey has uncovered.

More economists in Washington, fewer law enforcement staff in the Commission's regional offices, excessive and sometimes stultifying layers of economic analysis and review, and an obsession with the pursuit of deregulatory theories at the expense of rules and cases will bring little relief to economically stressed and victimized older Americans.

But at least your hearings serve to call forcefully to the Commission's attention the fact that for all the wonders of the free market, there are human victims of its failures.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Chairman HEINZ. Commissioner Pertschuk, thank you. Commissioner Bailey.

STATEMENT OF PATRICIA P. BAILEY, COMMISSIONER, FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION

Commissioner BAILEY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. You can see why I was tempted by your offer to let me go first, but I am used to having to struggle to say something that has not already been said by the time it gets to be my turn.

I want to thank you, along with my colleagues, for asking us to be here to discuss the problems which older consumers face in the marketplace and what the FTC is trying to do about it.

Chairman Miller and others have already outlined a great deal of the Commission's work in several areas, and I would like only to highlight a few specific subjects.

First, I want to emphasize how important I believe the Commission's work in health care is to older Americans. A substantial portion of the Chairman's testimony, and particularly his prepared testimony, concerned our initiatives in that area, and the truth is that all of those activities, and others, have a very significant impact on all consumers, and especially on the elderly. Understanding that, I would like to underscore something that the Chairman mentioned. That is that most, if not all of our work in health

19 - 930 0 - 83 - 3

care, would have to be discontinued if professionals and professional associations are exempted from the FTC's jurisdiction, as has been proposed by some in the Congress. I think it is very important, in the context of this committee's concern, to understand what the impact of a profession's exemption would be.

Second, since fraud in the sale of automobiles is among the top 10 problems which appear in the committee's survey, and since I was the spokesperson in 1981 and 1982 for the Commission's used car rule, I will say a word about that.

As you are aware, the Commission promulgated the used car rule in 1981 for the purpose of trying to remedy some of the problems we identified in the used car transaction through the vehicle of information disclosure requirements. The rule would have required a window sticker displaying clear warranty information and an explanation of the meaning of an "as is" sale, and it also would have required dealers to disclose to potential buyers any of a certain list of major defects which existed in the car if the dealer knew about them. That rule was vetoed by both Houses of the Congress. And I believe the Chairman misspoke in his testimony-the constitutionality of the two-House veto, not the used car rule, is presently before the courts, under review by the Supreme Court, and as a result, the used car rule's future status is uncertain.

However, the evidentiary findings on which the Commission based the rule may be of assistance to the committee in evaluating other approaches to this problem, and I am sure the Commission would be pleased to provide any assistance that the committee may wish in this regard.

Third, since my appointment to the Commission in 1979, I have taken a special interest in the problem of credit discrimination, including that faced by older Americans. And here again, I will only add to what the Chairman has said. In 1977, the Congress extended the Equal Credit Opportunity Act's prohibitions on sex and marital status discrimination, to cover, as well, discrimination on the basis of age. The FTC has a major responsibility for enforcing that law with respect to the activities of loan companies, retailers, oil and gas credit card issuers, and issuers of travel and entertainment cards, such as Diners' Club and American Express. Recently, we have begun to concentrate on discrimination against the elderly, and we have developed and will continue to develop law enforcement initiatives in this area. Once again, we would be pleased to provide whatever assistance the committee may wish in pursuing older consumers' credit problems.

And finally, Commissioner Clanton and Commissioner Pertschuk have both described the Commission's recently issued funeral rule, which is now pending before the Congress, for consideration under the legislative veto. I support that rule. I believe it will be of considerable assistance to consumers, and I very much hope the Congress will agree with that judgment.

Thank you.

Chairman HEINZ. Commissioner Bailey, thank you. Commissioner Douglas.

STATEMENT OF GEORGE W. DOUGLAS, COMMISSIONER, FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION

Mr. DOUGLAS. Good morning. Thank you for having us here this morning. I think we all welcome your investigation, and it gives us an opportunity to discuss with you consumer protection, particularly that for the elderly.

I can assure you that we all regard consumer protection as one of the most important missions of the Federal Trade Commission, and we look forward to studying the findings and recommendations of this committee.

I would like to make a couple of points—I first would like to echo I would finally just like to make a comment regarding Commis-

the point made by Commissioner Bailey as to the importance of our work in the health area. This is obviously an area which is of great concern to the elderly Americans. Many of our cases are very important in restraining inflation in health care costs. The Commission is united in opposing the professional exemption which would prevent us from assisting elderly and containing health care costs. sioner Pertschuk's complaint that the Commission is devoting excess resources to economic studies. I think this is a false impression to leave with you. Many of the economic activities are related to deregulation. Deregulation, in many cases, is very important in containing costs of services that the elderly pay. The Federal Trade Commission in the past has assisted in deregulating the airline industry, deregulating surface transportation, which keeps the cost of bus transportation down, which is of importance to the elderly, as well as all Americans.

Second, with a specific example in mind, we have recently successfully prosecuted a case of age discrimination in the granting of credit. The evidence and the detection of this discrimination was possible only by the use of the skills of the economists at the Federal Trade Commission. I see this as a harbinger of more imaginative and effective use of economists in carrying out our mandate, and I would not like to have you get the wrong impression, that the increasing resources that we are devoting to that aspect of law enforcement is meant to do anything but increase our effectiveness.

Thank you.

Chairman HEINZ. Thank you, Commissioner Douglas. I would like to direct your attention to the survey that the committee has completed.

The survey of the various consumer and law enforcement agencies involved questioning as to consumer complaints, not concerns, but actual instances of things that came into the district attorney's office, the Consumer Protection Agency, the police department, or many of the other agencies that we surveyed.

One of the questions that was asked was, In your experience, are the elderly or the younger age groups more victimized, or are both victimized about the same? Seventy-seven percent of our survey respondents reported that the elderly were victimized more. Now, Chairman Miller, does that suggest to you, frankly, as it does to me, that the Federal Trade Commission's work will result, really, in more protection to the elderly consumer above any other consumer group in the Nation?

16

Chairman MILLER. Well, Mr. Chairman, I think the Federal Trade Commission must serve all consumers in our Nation. But to the extent that the elderly are especially victimized, I think a special burden is placed upon us to make sure that our programs are effective in addressing their particular problems, as well as the problems of other Americans.

Chairman HEINZ. It would seem to me that certainly, you have a responsibility to all Americans. But given this information—which is literally hot off the presses—which is very reliable—we got very high response rates—it would seem to be fairly difficult to contest the proposition that that group of Americans that benefit the most from your protection are the elderly.

Does anybody want to dispute or support that point? Commissioner Pertschuk.

Commissioner PERTSCHUK. Mr. Chairman, it certainly is correct, and I was just going to observe that the organizations that have been most active and effective in protecting the Commission's jurisdiction, because I think they recognize the importance of the FTC, are the organizations of the elderly such as the American Association of Retired Persons, the National Council of Senior Citizens. I think the expression of their concern that the FTC remain a viable presence in these areas has been an important part of the Commission's support.

Chairman HEINZ. There were 10 frauds that were reported as being most harmful to the elderly-again, these were based on complaints received. Of the 10, it is my understanding that 7 of them fall into FTC jurisdiction. The ones that do not would be home repair and improvement schemes—those would be local— "bunco" schemes-those would be local-and social frauds. But the others, quackery and medical-related frauds, insurance frauds, housing, land sale, and rental frauds, business opportunity frauds, nursing home frauds, automobile purchase and repair frauds, and funeral frauds, are very much in your jurisdiction, and indeed, wathan the jurisdiction of no agency of more import than yours.

Chairman Miller, would you agree?

Chairman MILLER. I would agree with that. I would just beg to point out, Mr. Chairman, we were relieved of our authority over the insurance industry a few years ago, so we do not have direct authority in the insurance area. But you are right, the Federal Trade Commission is the agency that has more authority over these particular items that you have read for us, and it is incumbent upon us to persevere in making sure that these kinds of problems are minimized for older Americans and for other Americans, as well.

Chairman HEINZ. Chairman Miller, in your testimony, you stated that mail-order problems are the largest single source of complaints to your Commission, and that accordingly, you have made scrutiny of mail-order problems a very high priority.

Can you tell us a little bit more about the kinds of complaints you have received and what, specifically, you are doing about them?

Chairman MILLER. Well, the kinds of complaints we receive are very frequently that people receive things that they did not order. were not received.

We have a mail-order rule, which is a good rule, and I support it. And what we have tried to do is to both inform consumers of their rights under the mail-order rule and also instruct mail-order organizations and the companies engaged in mail-order business what the Commission's rules are.

And I will have to give credit here to Commissioner Clanton for developing, when he was interim Chairman of the Federal Trade Commission, a program, and working with the Direct Mail Marketing Association, on a brochure that we developed in conjunction with the association. As a result of this, the members of the Direct Mail Marketing Association are sending out thousands of these brochures that are written in plain English that a consumer can understand. It tells the consumer what his rights are and what to do if he receives something in the mail he did not order, or if a shipment is delayed, or whatever.

So it has two effects. It has the effect of telling consumers what their rights are, but it also has the effect of reminding the companies who engage in mail-order sales what their responsibilities are under our mail-order rule. We have been very pleased with this, a kind of cooperative venture that I think serves both consumers and companies. The result is greater conformance with our rule.

Chairman HEINZ. Are you familiar with S. 450, the legislation introduced by Senator Pryor, myself, and others, that would give the Postal Inspector considerably more powers to deal with mail fraud? Chairman MILLER. I know if it, but I do not know the particulars. Chairman HEINZ. May I ask you this, Chairman Miller. Would you please take a careful look at that legislation and give us your views on it and whether or not you can support it? It was legislation that was reported favorably last year by the committee of ju-I am very much for it. There is very little known opposition to it, but nevertheless, we did not get it to the floor, and it did not pass last year. We would appreciate your written views on that.

risdiction. Personally, as you may gather, as one of the cosponsors,

Chairman MILLER. We will be glad to respond.¹ Chairman HEINZ. Are there any other comments on mail fraud right now?

[No response.]

Chairman HEINZ. If not, I would yield to Senator Cohen, because I know he has a meeting of the Intelligence Committee at 10 o'clock.

Senator Cohen.

Senator COHEN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and with your permission, I would like to enter a statement in the record. Chairman HEINZ. Without objection, so ordered. [The statement of Senator Cohen follows:]

Mr. Chairman, I want to commend you for putting together this morning's hearing to investigate the widespread problem of fraud perpetrated against the elderly. The committee staff has done an excellent job of tabulating and interpreting the

¹ Material referred to not received at time of publication.

or that checks that they have sent in were cashed, but the orders

STATEMENT OF SENATOR WILLIAM S. COHEN

results of the survey conducted in 1981 and 1982, whose intent is to determine the extent of this frightening issue, and identify its key elements.

The committee's survey has highlighted the sad fact that instances of fraudulent practices have increased over the past several years and that the elderly, as a segment of our population, are specifically targeted by the con artists involved in these activities. The amount of money that is taken from our senior citizens through fraud and deception is significant, and underlines the fact that this is a very serious problem.

While we all have been "taken for a ride" in one form or another at some point in our lives, no group is singled out, like the elderly are, as potential victims of this kind of crime. The fact that they are targeted in this way poses problems for lawmakers: Should crimes of this nature, because they are perpetrated against a more vulnerable group of citizens, be more strictly sanctioned? Or does such an approach unfairly discriminate against the elderly?

On the other hand, the fact that we are aware of the selection of seniors as prime targets for consumer and economic frauds gives us something to work with. From everyone I have spoken with about this problem, it appears that educational efforts would constitute a major part of the solution of this problem.

In my own State of Maine, we have been fortunate that awareness of fraud perpetrated against the elderly has been increasing recently, not only among those involved in senior citizen advocacy groups or State agencies, but among others as well. Last year, the State attorney general's office joined the Bureau of Maine's Elderly in conducting 20 seminars around the State that dealt with consumer fraud and how to combat it. The seminars were well-attended and well-received, and undoubtedly contributed to a greater awareness on the part of the elderly to their vulnerability to fraud and deception.

With the results of the committee's survey in hand, efforts like that in Maine can be duplicated across the country, in an effort to educate potential victims of fraud and deception. This can be achieved by working through already organized senior citizens' groups, of which there are many, through State attorneys general's offices, and State human services agencies, and through our congressional offices.

Awareness of the extent of this problem is a key to finding a workable approach to reducing its impact on the elderly. Today's hearing is an important part of this process, and what we accomplish here should be expanded, and this information disseminated to all parts of the country.

seminated to all parts of the country. Again, I commend the chairman for the work he has put into this hearing, and I hope our efforts here today will result in constructive action that will help the elderly recognize and resist fraudulent practices.

Senator COHEN. Mr. Chairman, I commend you for holding these hearings. I think it is an old Chinese proverb that says, "Man fools himself. He prays for long life, and yet he fears an old age." I think this hearing is designed to explore the reasons why that particular expression has a good deal of validity. Commissioner James Miller, Mr. Chairman, would you explain to

Commissioner James Miller, Mr. Chairman, would you explain to me the difference that exists between yourself and the other members concerning the funeral rule? I came in at the very tail end of your statement, and I am not precisely sure exactly what your objections to it are. I think you indicated that its promulgation is an exercise in deception, rather than true consumer protection.

Chairman MILLER. Right.

Senator COHEN. And let me say that I recall sitting on the Small Business Committee back in the Congress in 1973 when this issue first came up, and I frankly found that at that point, the case had been overstated on the need for the regulation and the proposed regulation, was quite extensive. It went into a detailed description as to whether or not individuals should select socks, have an itemized description of whether they wanted underwear for their deceased, and it was really quite extensive, and I recall at that time, those hearings were rather provocative, and the issue has been here for the last 10 years. So I would like to know what the rule proposes that you find is really an exercise in deception, rather than true consumer protection, because there seems to be quite a split within the Commission itself.

Chairman MILLER. Senator Cohen, let me try to be brief. What we have, I think, is just an honest difference of opinion on the rule among the Commissioners, and I respect my fellow Commissioners for their views on the matter.

Senator COHEN. Give me a summary of the rule itself. What does the rule do?

Chairman MILLER. Well, the rule requires itemized listing, would forbid certain deceptive practices, such as saying that a body has to be embalmed before it is cremated—that really is not true in many States—and things of this nature. But in fairness, the rule the Commission promulgated, pursuant to the directions it received from Congress, is not nearly as precise and specific in all details as the rule that may have been proposed in 1973. But what we have here is a difference of opinion. As I stated, I

But what we have here is a difference of opinion. As I stated, I am very concerned that the Commission really does not have quite as good a handle on the industry as it should have. There are a lot of changes the industry has undergone since the major data came in. The baseline study the Commission prepared contained certain information about the industry that is inconsistent with the predicate for the rule itself. The Commission refused, however, to receive the baseline study into the evidentiary record. I believe that the probability is significant that the courts will simply find the Commission erred in promulgating the rule, not so much on the basis of its independent judgment about the rule, but in terms of the procedures followed, and the quantum of evidence the Commission had to review, and the substance of that evidence.

Therefore, I believe that there is a significant probability that the courts will overturn the rule, and we will have spent a lot of time going through this process, when we could have promulgated a better rule. For that reason, to advertise to the American people that we are going to do something quite substantial for them, especially for the elderly, when I have strong suspicions that it will never happen, is, I believe, an act of deception.

Senator COHEN. Well, my question is, is it because you feel the court is going to rule that the study that was done, or the recommendation was based on false or incomplete data, and therefore, because of the incompleteness of it all, it is a deception rather than true consumer protection, or do you find that the rules in and of themselves are deceptive in that they will not provide relief? Is it because it is based on inadequate data, or because the rule itself, aside from the data, would not provide true consumer relief? Chairman MILLER. Well, it is really both. First, I believe there is

Chairman MILLER. Well, it is really both. First, I believe there is a significant probability that the courts will find the Commission erred in promulgating the rule.

Senator COHEN. Aside from that issue—set that aside. Chairman MILLER. Second, even assuming that the courts upheld the Commission's action, I believe it may be deceptive for the Commission to promise a lot in terms of what the rule will do, when I am not sure that all the provisions of the rule will be that positive; and further, the rule does not address some matters that may be of greater concern, and may be more the root causes of the problem that we observe than those addressed in the rule itself.

Senator COHEN. Could you tell me what those are because we are speaking in generalities now, and I assume that Senator Heinz, myself, and others, although I have not been the object of any floodtide of funeral directors coming into my office, I am sure we will be----

Chairman HEINZ. You will now. [Laughter.]

Senator COHEN. But what are the specific objections that you have?

Chairman MILLER. One of the problems is package pricing. The rule requires "unbundling," allowing a person to purchase funeral components individually rather than packages. But it may be deceptive inasmuch as a funeral director can simply price these a la carte items very high and essentially price them out of the market relative to packages. So if we are assuring consumers they will be able to pick and choose when the rule lets funeral directors raise prices on the a la carte items, we are not really delivering that option to consumers.

Second, I am very concerned, although I realize this is an area involving federalism issues, that there is a tendency among State governments and State boards to cartelize the industry by imposing certain rules and regulations that have the effect of setting unnecessarily high standards. These standards operate to reduce competition by restricting entry into the profession, among other ways. This may be far more important, in terms of delivery of services to consumers, than the kinds of matters that we address in the rule.

It is very complicated. In the antitrust area, there are concerns about the effect of the State action doctrine. I do not think these issues were addressed sufficiently in the Commission's deliberations on the funeral rule itself.

We just have an honest difference of opinion about this matter. Senator COHEN. Do you have a separate opinion on this matter that you have filed?

Chairman MILLER. Yes, sir.

Senator COHEN. Could you supply it to the committee, and then perhaps we could also get the views of the other members specifically on that, because you seem to be alone, I think, virtually alone, in this assessment.

Chairman MILLER. Yes, sir. I do not think Commissioner Douglas participated, so I do not know if he has any proposals. At the time of the voting out, it was the four Commissioners you see on the right.1

Commissioner Douglas. This matter was taken up well before I joined the Commission, and I have not had an opportunity to study the record, and at this time, I do not know whether I will be making a statement for or against a veto of the rule.

Senator COHEN. Who conducted the baseline study, Chairman Miller?

Chairman MILLER. The baseline study was developed under the chairmanship of Commissioner Pertschuk-I think it is a terrific idea, and should be followed for every rule.

Senator COHEN. Well, who decided that the baseline study should not become a part of the record?

Chairman MILLER. The Commission, by majority vote. Senator COHEN. Commissioner Pertschuk, could you explain that? You originated it, and yet it did not become a part of the record: why is that?

Commissioner PERTSCHUK. Yes, the answer is simple, Senator Cohen. The committee's investigation on funerals began in 1972, and the hearing record after 7 or 8 years was finally closed, so that the Commission could finish the rule. The basic problem was one of timing, first of all. The purpose of these baseline studies is to help the Commission evaluate the effectiveness of rules once they go into effect, to take a picture of the marketplace at the time a rule is proposed, so that 2 or 3 years later, the Commission can determine how it has worked. So it was not primarily designed for evidentiary purposes. But in addition to that, of course, we placed it on the public record. If it had shown that something was sharply amiss from the basic thrust of the evidence in the record, then I think it would have been the judgment of the Commission that we would have stopped, reopened the proceeding, taken another year, or 2, or 3 again. But it was our judgment that there was nothing in the baseline study which essentially changed our judgment as to the thrust of the evidence in the record, and it was our judgment, and it has been the judgment of every Commissioner until Commissioner Miller came to the agency that the evidence sustained the basic rule.

On the other hand, his statement of the differences is quite fair. I think one very important point he makes is that much of his difference has to do with the level of evidence and the nature and quality of the record. I think it was our judgment that the record is amply sufficient to sustain court support for the rule. The questions which Congress faces in addressing the rule, I think, are really different, and there, I think Congress is more free to look at the provisions of the rule to determine whether, as they are limited, and all of the provisions that the Small Business Committee looked at, such as the rule that said you could not have odd-colored caskets in order to deflect people from bizarre, lower priced colored caskets, to higher priced caskets-those are all gone. The rule is basically stripped down, and the basic purpose is to give the family arranging the funeral some more choice.

If I may finally, Mr. Chairman, I do have a copy of the statement by Senator Kasten released yesterday, in which he analyzes the rule and expresses his support for the rule, which I ask that you may want to include in the record.

all members of the committee. Senator COHEN. As I recall, one of the original rules had a recommendation that each individual funeral director must put on notice to the person coming in that they should go and check with a competitor before buying. Is that out, too?

Commissioner PERTSCHUK. I had never seen it, so it dropped out even before I got to the Commission, Senator.

Senator COHEN. Commissioner Clanton. Commissioner CLANTON. Senator Cohen, I wanted to just add an additional response. The major reason why we did not reopen the record on that point is set forth in the Federal Register, actually,

Chairman HEINZ. It has already been noted and it is available to

¹ Material referred to not received at time of publication.

at page 42268—this is the Federal Register notice that we submitted when we promulgated the rule on September 24, 1982.

Senator COHEN. That is one of the things that does not cross my desk every morning.

Commissioner CLANTON. I appreciate that fact. I must say that well, I will not comment on the problem of reading the Federal Register; it is difficult—but simply for the purpose of citing the record on that page, and some footnotes.

But by and large, the reason we did not was that the baseline study to which Commissioner Pertschuk referred was an effort to give us a sense of what the world was before we promulgated the rule. We could then follow up to see what improvements had been made after the fact—once that rule had been in place. Essentially, it does not contradict the reason or need for the rule. The major issue that arose related to the question of disclosing information over the telephone. There is a provision in the rule that would require, if consumers request price information, for funeral directors to provide it over the phone. There was evidence in that baseline study to suggest that a considerable number of funeral directors already provided information over the phone. The suggestion was made that perhaps that undercut the need for having a separate requirement in the rule on that particular point. And we recognized that over the intervening 8 or 9 years since we initiated the rulemaking other States may have taken some action, resulting in some improvement. Nevertheless, we felt that information did not negate the fact or the need for putting that proposal in place as an affirmative obligation to make sure that that practice is continued.

In fact, I think the telephone disclosure provision is the most specific area of the rule where there was really information to suggest that the underlying premise might be somewhat different, or the practice of the industry might be somewhat different, than we thought was the case in proposing the rule.

But I would point out that even on the question of telephone price disclosure, we had considerable information in the record, including information from industry people, that suggested that providing telephone price data was not feasible, or very helpful. Funeral industry representatives argued that customers would still have to come in and get much more specific information and that price information generally was not provided over the phone.

Now, the reason for that particular conflict and the fact that the study suggested that it was done more frequently is hard to say. But I think it certainly did not undercut the need for putting a limited but reasonable provision in the rule. Indeed, our action was consistent with the premise that it was feasible to do so and that a rule provision would not have any adverse effect on the industry. I cite that just to underscore one of the principal conflicting pieces of information in that underlying baseline study and why we decided to go ahead with the rule. And, as I indicated, it is explained in some detail in the Federal Register notice.

Chairman MILLER. Mr. Chairman, as Senator Kasten points out in his statement, in a way it is fortunate that that issue of the evidentiary record will be resolved by the courts, so we will have a chance to hear those contentions.

Senator COHEN. Thank you very much.

I have a number of questions. I am not going to ask them all, because I know you do have another meeting, but I do have one or two I do want to pursue. One that you can answer for the record, though, has to do with pacemakers and pacemaker fraud, which has been a subject of great interest to this committee. Last year, we determined that of the \$2 billion spent by medicare for pacemakers, pacemaker warranties, doctors, and hospital bills, as much as \$1 billion of the \$2 billion is money that should not and need not have been spent.

Now, in 1978, the Federal Trade Commission initiated a review of pacemaker warranties. Our investigation that I mentioned a moment ago, indicated that this effort of yours was concluded in 1980, with a recommendation that certain allegations be transferred to the Justice Department for prosecution.

We heard from the Justice Department that they had not received any such referrals. Would you please provide for the record an explanation of the FTC activities in this area, and specifically whether or not the referrals were made, and if so, to whom, and if not, why not?

It looks like, Commissioner Pertschuk, you will have a little resurrection of history to perform.

Commissioner PERTSCHUK. We will do what we can, Mr. Chairman.1

Chairman HEINZ. Thank you very much. Now, Chairman Miller, we understand that the agency, the FTC, has an investigation of the nursing home industry underway and you have had it underway for some time, as I recollect. When do you expect that to come to some kind of conclusion, and what kind of results might we expect?

Chairman MILLER. That investigation is housed at the Seattle regional office and has recently been transferred to headquarters for more intensive work. I would be reluctant to give you a precise date as to when that will be concluded. It is a very complicated matter. There are many ramifications and facets of that matter.

I am reluctant to predict, but it is currently pending, and I would imagine we would be getting more information on that matter within a matter of months.

Chairman HEINZ. Of months? Chairman MILLER. Yes. Chairman HEINZ. Very well. Commissioner Clanton.

Commissioner CLANTON. Mr. Chairman, could I add a point on that that goes back even before Chairman Miller came onboard. As you indicated, we have had that investigation underway for some time. I do think, however, that even though we have not brought any specific cases or rules, there has been some beneficial impact. I refer to efforts, as a result of our study and investigation, by our staff, to assist other Government agencies, specifically HHS, in devising some standards for nursing homes receiving Federal assistance. Our staff had worked at some length at an earlier point with that Department in devising rules that addressed some of the consumer problems that people in nursing homes were having. That

¹ Material referred to not received at time of publication.

Chairman HEINZ. Senator Cohen, thank you very much.

action obviously does not resolve all of the issues, but it does reflect the fact that our involvement in this area had some positive and beneficial results in providing assistance to HHS with respect to its funding standards for nursing homes.

Chairman MILLER. Mr. Chairman, I am corrected that the Bureau Director forwarded a study to the Commission on December 23, and it is now with Commissioner Pertschuk.

Chairman HEINZ. Commissioner Pertschuk, do you have anything to add to the status of the nursing home investigation, on anything that might proceed from that?

[Commissioner Pertschuk conferred with his staff person.]

Chairman HEINZ. I hope the same thing has not happened to the nursing home investigation that has happened to the pacemaker investigation. I am sure that was not intentional, but---

Commissioner PERTSCHUK. There is some confusion as to the precise status of the investigation. I will send a letter to the committee in a day, giving you the status and telling you what the status is, Mr. Chairman.

[Subsequent to the hearing, Commissioner Pertschuk submitted the following letter:]

OFFICE OF THE COMMISSIONER

The Honorable John Heinz Chairman Special Committee on Aging United States Senate Washington, D.C. 20510

Dear Chairman Heinz:

I wish to clarify for the record the question of the status of the Commission's nursing home investigation which came up at today's hearing.

On December 28, 1982, as the Chairman indicated, Bureau Director Muris forwarded to the Commission the staff's final recommendations in the nursing home investigation. The matter was assigned to my office to be circulated for consideration to the Commission. Following a review which he had initiated eleven months before, in February 1982, Mr. Muris, along with the Division of Service Industry Practices, overruled the earlier recommendations of the nursing home staff in the FTC's Seattle office and recommended that the entire investigation be closed without Commission action. Upon learning of the Bureau's closing recommendation and the assignment of the matter to my office, Liz Taylor, the staff member in Seattle who had prepared the earlier report, informed me by memo of January 17, 1983 that she believed further information might facilitate my review, and therefore requested an opportunity to submit a responsive memorandum before any action was taken. My office informed both Ms. Taylor and Mr. Muris' office that her request would be granted. On February 18, 1983, less than two weeks ago, Ms. Taylor's memorandum was transmitted to my office via Bureau Director Muris.

There the matter stands. I am presently giving the closest review to Mr. Muris' closing recommendation, as well as to the Seattle staff's dissenting views, and intend to schedule this matter for formal Commission consideration in the very near future.

I hope that this letter corrects any misimpression left by today's testimony that this highly important matter has been unduly delayed in my office. The simple truth is that additional time was allowed, without objection from Mr. Muris or anyone else, for Ms. Taylor to exercise fully her right of dissent by responding to Mr. Muris' critique of the investigation and his closing recommendation.

If I can be of further help to you and the Committee, please do not hesitate to call upon me.

25

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D. C. 20580

March 1, 1983

Sincerely, Michael Vertoch

Michael Pertschuk Commissioner

19-930 0 - 83 - 4

Chairman HEINZ. Commissioner Pertschuk, I believe in your statement, you stated that the hearing aid rule had, in your judgment, been allowed to languish?

Commissioner PERTSCHUK. Yes, sir.

Chairman HEINZ. Why has that occurred, in your judgment?

Commissioner PERTSCHUK. Well, I think there are probably two reasons. First, in general, the first order of business for the new leadership of the Commission when it came to the Commission after the election was to impose their new standards of evaluating Commission activities, to have a heavy emphasis on economic analysis and a reorientation of priorities to areas such as intervention in other agencies for deregulation.

There were pending at the Commission substantial numbers of rules, and they are hard to deal with. They involve voluminous records. And it takes an enormous concentration of staff energy to put the rules into shape to be sent forward. We have had one or two of the rules which were pending come before the Commission with recommendations for closing, and the hearing aid rule has suffered from the allocation of resources.

The Commission, of course, is down in its overall resources, by one count by 35 percent, and so I think at least part of that is a result of the overall diminution of resources and the lower priorities set for rules such as the hearing aid rule, and I think that is the basic explanation, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman MILLER. Mr. Chairman, could I respond to that by pointing out first that, as Commissioner Pertschuk said, the hearing aid rule was sent back to staff in October 1979, fully a year before the election occurred, when Commissioner Pertschuk was Chairman of the Federal Trade Commission. There must have been some evidentiary problems at that point, some work that the Federal Trade Commission staff needed to engage in, surely, for this whole year's time that it did not report it back to the Commission.

I also have before me a copy of our regulatory agenda printed in the Federal Register. We anticipate having the specific recommendations of the Bureau before the Commission on the hearing aid rule within a matter of a few weeks. It is true that many of the rules we found in the pipeline were languishing because of lack of attention and because the evidence underlying the rule was dated. and insufficient. I think the Federal Trade Commission's consumer protection staff has done a monumental task in trying to put together a sound evidentiary basis for the rules, so that when the Commission acts, if it acts positively on a rule, its action will be upheld in the courts. One thing that is awfully disturbing to me is to look at the court records of the Federal Trade Commission in recent years, to find how frequently the Commission was overturned in the courts. If we are doing our job, we will be sustained in the courts. And I think again, it is deception on the American people for the Federal Trade Commission to move forward with rules or regulations that will not be sustained by the courts.

Chairman HEINZ. On that point, which was one of two you made regarding deception on the funeral home rule, maybe it will be of some help to you and members of the Commission to note that the study that we have done, which is very current, cites funerals

among the highest instances of complaints. It was among the top 10 and we asked about 30 or 40 different areas.

Chairman MILLER. Right. No question.

Chairman MILLER. No; you are absolutely right. No question but that industry is one deserving of serious attention by the Federal Trade Commission. The question is how best to address the problem.

Chairman HEINZ. One last question, and then I will recognize Senator Pryor, if he has an opening statement or any questions.

Several of you have made reference in one way or another to the new standards of economic analysis. Now, some people who are not on the Commission, including myself, are really, frankly, unable to tell how worthwhile that is or whether it is a device for slowing things down that might be a little unpopular.

Let me ask each of the members of the Commission in turn, if I may, how valid and valuable they think the new standards of economic analysis are.

Chairman Miller, obviously, you support that. They came in with you.

Chairman MILLER. Well, Mr. Chairman, actually, in fairness, I think what we have done is to improve the focus of the economic analysis that was already going on at the Federal Trade Commission. Actually, in terms of the proportion of the Commission's resources, the economic analysis, the pure research, is down. We have increased dramatically the proportion of the Commission's economic resources going directly to law enforcement programs.

I believe it is very important to have such analysis, because I think it results in, (a) bringing better cases, (b) bringing cases that really do help consumers and do help competition, and (c) bringing cases that will be sustained by the courts.

So, going back to Commissioner Douglas' point, I think such economic analysis is essential, but I do not want you to get the idea that we have suddenly increased the resources. We have just done a better job of more efficiently meshing the needs of the Commission to the resources that we have.

The purpose is not to slow down things. The purpose is to make sure that the things that we do are done very well. And I think if you look at the output, especially in the consumer protection area, you will see how it has come up, how we have focused on the best cases.

Chairman HEINZ. What is the average length of time in which Chairman MILLER. There is a wide range. I would have to get the

the FTC is involved with an issue before coming forth with a rule? statistics. Obviously, a rulemaking can last 10 years. An individual fraud case could last a couple of weeks.

Chairman MILLER. Well, we of course have had rulemaking authority only for a decade, but we will----Chairman HEINZ. And you are going to get some rules made any year now, right?

Chairman MILLER. Pardon? Chairman HEINZ. You are going to get some rules made one of these days.

Chairman HEINZ. That is not dated, that is not old.

Chairman HEINZ. Well, I am talking about rulemaking.

Chairman MILLER. Well, we have promulgated a number of rules, Mr. Chairman, but we also have several rules in the pipeline right now that we will be acting upon. There are, as you know, several rules that we have promulgated.

Chairman HEINZ. But on the average, a rulemaking will take several years?

Chairman MILLER. Yes.

Chairman HEINZ. To what extent, irrespective of the validity of the economic analysis, would you say that that slows a rulemaking down—by a month, by several months, by years?

Chairman MILLER. Well, Mr. Chairman, I just find it almost impossible to understand how the Commission could go through the requirements of the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act rulemaking and meeting the requirements of the Administrative Procedure Act without having economic input. So I cannot simply—— Chairman HEINZ. Chairman Miller, I am not trying to take a po-

sition with respect to the validity of that. I am simply asking a question of fact—

Chairman MILLER. I simply cannot answer how much economics input slows down a rulemaking. The basic point, Mr. Chairman, first, is without economic analysis, I do not think the Commission could be sustained in the courts on a rule. So there has to be economic analysis to have a rule sustained. You could have a thought experiment and say how quickly could we get a rule through, but the decision on how quickly a rule goes through is one the Commissioners make depending on how they think the evidence is being put together, the fine-tuning of the staff's recommendations, and that sort of thing. It is a time-consuming process, but it is very difficult for me to have a thought experiment to say how much economic input, anymore than how much legal input; without which you could not have a rule sustained in the courts, affects the timing. I just cannot see how you could separate it.

Chairman HEINZ. Are there any other comments? Commissioner Bailey.

Commissioner BAILEY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I agree with the Chairman on the difficulty of trying to evaluate the problems that may be caused by economic input in a rulemaking. The more relevant factor, I think, is the degree to which the proposed rulemaking is controversial at large and within the industry that it is proposed to deal with.

If it is controversial, it is likely to take a much longer time to get the amount of information, particularly information in the hands of the industry, that is necessary. And I just would illustrate-the used car rule was 9 years finally getting finished. The funeral rule is nearly a disgrace, the length of time that it has taken. But the R-value rule, concerning the effectiveness of insulation, where the industry itself was eager to have something that was understandable by consumers, and therefore was in general, cooperative, did not take more than 1½ years to get a complete evidentiary record that we were certain would be sustained by the courts.

So I think there are other factors that have a very significant impact on the amount of time that it takes to do these things.

Chairman HEINZ. Commissioner Pertschuk.

Commissioner PERTSCHUK. I was just going to reply briefly, Mr. Chairman. I think the rhetoric about the usefulness of an economic analysis is one that we probably all could share and make the same speeches—that is, that it is necessary, that of course, the Commission should use economists to make sure that what it is doing is of economic benefit, exceeding its cost. The problem is in the application.

My criticism of much of what has gone on is that the economic analysis is applied, although in an apparently scientific way, with a strong ideological bias, against Government intervention in the marketplace for any reasons whatsoever.

The fact is that both the Chairman and Commissioner Douglas have cited the use of economists in developing a means of attacking age discrimination in credit. That is a marvelous use of economists, and I applaud it. It is exceedingly rare. The fact of the matter is that 99 out of 100 times, several layers of economists will essentially spend a lot of time and a lot of energy attacking the basic theory of staff's development of a case.

Challenging it is healthy. I m not saying that we should adopt a know-nothing approach. But in some cases where you have staff investigating a per se violation of the law, a law that the courts have said is a de facto violation of the law, we have spent exceedingly great quantities of time and paper in asking whether that is of economic benefit. So we are not dealing with a fundamental question of whether the Commission should not apply economic analysis, but the way in which it is applied, the extent of energy and resources applied to challenging what have been fundamental and basic parts of the law.

Chairman HEINZ. Senator Pryor.

STATEMENT BY SENATOR DAVID PRYOR

Senator PRYOR. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I have a prepared statement I would like to have inserted in the record.

Chairman HEINZ. Without objection, so ordered.¹ Senator PRYOR. I would like to just make one or two comments, and not necessarily related to the Federal Trade Commission. But Mr. Chairman, the survey that you authorized-I think the findings are very, very interesting. There are two general findings--one is that consumer fraud is increasing, and I think that those figures are pretty astronomical-12 percent yearly increases in fraudsand entangled directly with that is that the elderly are those who are most frequently victimized or abused. I would not even say that the elderly today are walking targets-they are more like "sitting targets" in many instances, and totally vulnerable to many of these frauds.

Last year, Chairman Heinz, myself, and other Members of the Senate, along with Congressman Pepper attempted to adopt a postal fraud bill which would have gotten at some of these frauds. Unfortunately, through some final hangup in the lame-duck ses-

¹See next page.

sion, it got caught, and we could not bring it to a final vote. We hope to once again work for enactment of that piece of legislation.

I think the survey results, Mr. Chairman, are very revealing and certainly, let us say, accentuate the need for congressional action that would further protect the elderly. And I want to compliment you, Mr. Chairman, for your work and for calling this hearing this morning.

I will have further questions, I think, for the Postal people, and I thank the very distinguished members of the Federal Trade Commission for their appearance.

Chairman HEINZ. Chairman Miller and members of the Commission, thank you very much. We appreciate your accommodating the committee and appearing. You have been very helpful, and we appreciate it.

Chairman MILLER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

[The prepared statement of Senator Pryor follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF SENATOR DAVID PRYOR

Mr. Chairman, I want to take this opportunity to commend you for scheduling this hearing on methods to combat frauds against the elderly. I cannot stress enough the importance of educating the public about these schemes, and about ways to avoid being taken by the con artists who perpetrate them.

For many years now we have known of the financial, physical, and sometimes psychological devastation which can result from such trickery. Unfortunately, the prevalence of these schemes is growing each year (some estimate an increase of 12 percent annually) and consumer fraud has become almost epidemic in its proportions. The Postal Inspection Service estimates that billions are lost yearly to schemes which involve anything from medical-related fraud, to phony investment proposals, to funeral fraud. The Arthritis Foundation estimates that over \$1 billion is lost yearly to phony arthritis cures alone. One of the saddest aspects of this situation is that over 60 percent of the victims of these frauds are senior citizens.

My interest in the area of consumer fraud, and particularly frauds which are perpetrated through the mails, was heightened when Congressman Pepper, then the distinguished chairman of the House Select Committee on Aging, shared with me the results of ongoing investigations by his staff. The staff uncovered numerous examples of consumer frauds which were taking place in communications in the House Select

amples of consumer frauds which were taking place in every State in the Union. In response to these findings, Chairman Pepper introduced legislation which would give the Postal Inspection Service (the investigative arm of the Postal Service) better enforcement tools to pursue these con artists. I introduced that legislation in the Senate, along with many of my colleagues on this committee.

The legislation successfully made it through the Senate and was amended in the House of Representatives last year. Unfortunately, there was not time to consider the amended version in the Senate before the end of the session. On February 3 of this year, this legislation was reintroduced as S. 450, and tomorrow I will testify before the Senate Governmental Affairs Committee on this bill.

S. 450 would considerably increase the effectiveness of the Chief Postal Inspector, and I intend to do all within my power to see that swift action is taken on this legislation in the Senate. Mr. Chairman, I would like to thank you and the able staff of the Senate Aging Committee for your assistance in the last Congress on this legislation, and I look forward to working with you in the coming mental and the senate of the senate

lation in the Senate. Mr. Chairman, I would like to thank you and the able start of the Senate Aging Committee for your assistance in the last Congress on this legislation, and I look forward to working with you in the coming months on this issue. I do want to stress that, in addition to legislative remedies in this area, it is also of the utmost importance that we educate the public on the prevalence of these fraudulent schemes, and on how to avoid being victims of them. The staff of this committee has done a great service for the consumers of this Nation by conducting the survey of consumer problems and economic fraud, and I hope that the results will be widely circulated and utilized by consumer education groups. I am certain that today's witnesses' stories will illustrate the need to disseminate this type of information, and I look forward to their testimony.

Chairman HEINZ. While our panel from the U.S. Postal Service is coming forward, I would just like to observe that the committee's recent survey has determined that many of the frauds perpetrated against the elderly are carried out through the mails. It is for that reason that I welcome Charles P. Nelson of the U.S. Postal Service, Criminal Investigations Division. Mr. Nelson is accompanied by George C. Davis, Assistant General Counsel, and Wayne Kidd, Manager of the Fraud Branch. We will hear Mr. Nelson's statement and then ask questions as

needed. Mr. Nelson.

STATEMENT OF CHARLES P. NELSON, WASHINGTON, D.C., ASSIST-ANT CHIEF POSTAL INSPECTOR, U.S. POSTAL SERVICE; ACCOM-PANIED BY GEORGE C. DAVIS, ASSISTANT GENERAL COUNSEL; AND WAYNE KIDD, MANAGER, FRAUD BRANCH

Mr. NELSON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. We are here today at your invitation to discuss the problems of mail fraud and its impact on the Nation's elderly. Mail fraud is not a new problem. It has undoubtedly been practiced since the introduction of the first public postal system. However, public concern for this form of fraud has increased with the emergence of today's multibillion-dollar-a-year mail-order industry. The growth of this industry has been accompanied by an increase in the number and sophistication of deceptive mail-order promotions. While the vast majority of mail-order businesses are legitimate, a small minority continues to threaten the integrity and reputation of the entire industry, as well as the public's confidence in the sanctity of the mails.

The specter of mail fraud is particularly vivid for our Nation's 26 million older Americans. Unfortunately, many fraudulent schemes tend to prey most heavily on the elderly, who, because of fixed incomes or limited mobility, often rely on the convenience of mailorder shopping. Because of the nature of the schemes involved in our cases, we believe that a high percentage of mail fraud and misrepresentation victims are senior citizens.

Over a century ago, Congress desire to protect the public from marketing schemes conducted by mail led to the enactment of the criminal mail fraud statute, 18 U.S. Code, section 1341, and the administrative false representation statute, 39 U.S. Code, section 3005. The Postal Service uses the provisions of these two statutes the Nation's first consumer protection statutes—to combat mail fraud.

The criminal statute provides for fines and imprisonment for intentionally using the mails in furtherance of a fraudulent scheme. It is a powerful deterrent. But during the time that the mail fraud is being investigated and prosecuted, the scheme may continue to operate and victimize the public.

The administrative statute offers an opportunity to protect the public from becoming victims of schemes to obtain money or property through the mail through false representations. This statute has a very simple mandate—that persons selling goods or services by mail refrain from the use of advertising which will mislead prospective purchasers in any material respect. Its principal sanction is an administrative mail stop order issued pursuant to procedures under the Administrative Procedure Act. The order is designed to A formal complaint is filed with the Postal Service's judicial officer. A copy of the complaint, a notice of hearing, and our rules of practice are served upon the promoter, called the respondent in our cases. The complaint is assigned to an independent administrative law judge, who presides impartially over the proceedings. He or she conducts a formal evidentiary hearing where the respondent may be represented by counsel, present testimony, and cross-examine our witnesses. The administrative law judge renders an initial decision which recommends, or not, the issuance of a mail stop order. The entire record, including a transcript of the hearing, is reviewed by the judicial officer. If he concludes that the Postal Service has proven by a preponderance of the evidence that the statute is being violated, he will then issue a mail stop order.

The statute's underlying expectation is that if the operator is prevented from receiving his profits, he must either reform his promotion to avoid misrepresentations or cease marketing his product by mail. Unfortunately, this expectation is not always realized, due to existing loopholes in the statute. Since the Postal Service must first obtain an advertised product before filing an administrative complaint, many operators postpone the mailing of their products until they have received most expected orders.

In our experience, delays in receiving the sample product in excess of 1 month are by no means uncommon. Even after a valid mail stop order is issued, a promoter can continue to operate simply by changing the name or address of his business. In this case, a new mail stop order must be sought.

During fiscal years 1977 through 1982, the Postal Service filed approximately 1,309 false representation complaints. This resulted in the issuance of 542 mail stop orders and the signing of 650 consent agreements.

I would like to highlight a few examples of recent schemes in which many of the victims were elderly citizens.

Exhibit 1 is Braswell, Inc., Atlanta, Ga. and Fort Lauderdale, Fla. Between July 1980 and September 1982, 138 false representation complaints were filed involving 50 different products marketed by Braswell, Inc. Thirty-two false representation orders were issued, and 15 consent agreements were signed by Braswell. Among the products sold by this promoter were alleged antiaging preparations and baldness cures. According to the evidence in one of the cases, the promoter sold over \$2 million worth of valueless baldness cures during the first 6 months of 1980.

[Exhibits referred to appear at end of Mr. Nelson's statement, pages 35 to 41.]

Exhibit 2 is the Phillips Envelope Co., Salinas, Calif. Between July 1978 and July 1981, 17 envelope stuffing promotions were the subjects of false representation complaints filed against this promoter. The promoter used nine different trade styles at 17 addresses during this time period. False representation orders were issued against these schemes. In 1982, the promoter was found guilty of mail fraud; 43,000 victims of the scheme, many of them elderly persons, collectively suffered an estimated \$500,000 loss. Exhibit 3 concerns the Herbal Education Center in Vermont. The promoter of this scheme mailed over 800,000 catalogs, advertising cures for cancer, arthritis, varicose veins, and other serious illnesses. More than 30,000 persons responded to the mailings and collectively invested an estimated \$150,000. In June 1981, a false representation action was filed against this promotion which resulted in a consent agreement. In February 1982, the promoter of the Herbal Education Center was sentenced to 5 years probation and fined \$6,000.

Exhibit 4 concerns investments and took place in Boston, Mass. Over a 9-year period, a Boston attorney swindled 100 of his elderly clients by convincing them to invest in a variety of promotions with promises of 15 to 20 percent annual interest and a full return of their principal in 1 to 3 years. He gained the confidence of many of his victims as a result of his position as president of a religious organization. In many instances, he knew the financial status of his victims because he had prepared their wills for them. As soon as they received an insurance settlement upon the death of a spouse, he would induce them to invest money with him. Most of the money received was invested in his name or in the names of members of his family. To prevent his clients from knowing what actually happened to their money and enable him to continue his swindle, the attorney sent them some interest payments. The attorney received a 1-year prison sentence.

Exhibit 5 involves Potency Plus, a scheme that was run out of Memphis, Tenn. The promoter sent direct mail advertisements to thousands of senior citizens nationwide, offering the "Miracle of the Eighties," a product which allegedly would stop the process of aging and increase the lifespan of the user. It was to be used by those suffering from arthritis, bad eyesight and hearing, gallstones, high blood pressure, gout, ulcers, blood clots, constipation, heart disease, stroke, and all the other maladies of aging. For \$20, victims received a 60-day supply of pills consisting of vitamins C and E and a so-called miracle ingredient, "Panax." Medical experts refuted these claims, but 7,000 persons purchased this cure-all product before the promotion was stopped by a false representation order.

Exhibit 6 is the Worm Growers' Exchange of Smyrna, Tenn. Through ads in numerous newspapers throughout the United States and Canada, the promoter solicited individuals on retirement or fixed income to raise earthworms in their backyards. Victims were told the National Worm Growers' Exchange was ready to buy back all worms at a large profit to the grower.

For an initial investment of \$2,500, victims received 30 pounds of worms, some newsletters acclaiming the many successes of worm farms, and an earthworm cake recipe—that is all they received. Over 2,000 victims lost \$3.5 million to this fraud. The five individuals responsible for this scheme were sentenced in 1980, to 3 years in prison with probation ranging from 3 to 5 years.

Exhibit 7 concerns Great Life Laboratories of New Jersey. The promoter advertised two products: One, an "amazing skin formula that would— allegedly—lift aging skin right off your face in just 7 seconds." The price was only \$12.50 for this jealously guarded and treasured beauty secret known throughout Europe and America. The doctor who refuted these advertising claims stated: "Washing with soap and water would accomplish the same results as using this product."

The second product, based upon an alleged significant breakthrough in the fight against aging, consisted of RNA tablets and a "no aging diet." None of the operator's claims were medically sound, and the promotions were stopped by the issuance of a false representation order.

That is the last exhibit we have. I would like to just mention a few insurance-type schemes that involve the elderly. Approximately 100 elderly women were defrauded through the sale of a worthless health insurance plan. Some victims were paying between \$6,000 and \$9,000 per year in premiums. One 93-year-old lady was sold maternity insurance. The promoters were fined \$25,000 and sentenced to serve 18 months to 4 years in Federal prison.

In another case, approximately 100 elderly citizens were collectively swindled out of \$100,000 by an agent through the sale of insurance which allegedly supplemented existing medicare coverage. The agent was found guilty of mail fraud and sentenced to a 4-year prison term.

In conclusion, I would suggest that increased public awareness and caution are essential to a meaningful reduction in the ability of unscrupulous promoters to deceptively market their products by mail. I would like to thank the committee for its efforts to bring this problem to the public's attention and hope that your efforts will certainly serve to heighten public awareness.

1

BRASWELL, INC., ATLANTA, GA/ FORT LAUDERDALE, FL TIME FRAME (JULY 1980 - SEPTEMBER 1982)

FALSE REPRESENT NUMBER OF PRO FALSE REPRESENT CONSENT AGREE

PRODUCT PRICE RANGE \$10.00 TO \$45.00

Exhibit 1

35

ATION COMPLAINTS	138
DUCTS INVOLVED	50
ATION ORDERS	32
MENTS	15

PHILLIPS WORK-AT-HOME ENVELOPE STUFFING SCHEME

Exhibit 2

36

TIME FRAME (JULY 1978 THRU JULY 1981)

TRADE STYLES	9
ADDRESSES	17
CIVIL COMPLAINTS FILED	17
FALSE REPRESENTATION ORDE	RS17

CRIMINAL ACTION

INDICTED 2-17-82 CONVICTED 4-19-82 SENTENCED 6-17-82

VICTIMS 43,000 ESTIMATED LOSS \$500,000





MEDICAL FRAUD

	* Hann See e save () Sela		
WHY HERBAL FORMULAS WORK SO WELL			
Las	y Convenient Results		
challes harbs pre per biending Each harb is a paining of the horbs has carries Ea gave sarries	Is not feature per bases set espect can be set sector at the two bar and the period of the set of the sector at the set of the sector at the set of the sector at the sec		
EANT	میران از میرسد بین از تولید شمیرانی آن تولید و بازی بالد این از این این از این از این این از این از این از این استان از این از این از این از این		
COAVENIENT	The property last best finite size of the big of the physical tests (set is performed as a "big of the set of		
	الدين جمع جو كه إخلاقها في ين المراجعة، و يبيد و البندي (جرابية و عنه مع جو يبير بين الما الحرابية بر طبيع مر معلم معرفية عن المعرفية ب		
MENT,TN	The specify per limit of persons had persons the specified fluxestime planets to apart for persons that persons persons persons the specified fluxes being and the specified persons being specified fluxes being and the specified persons being specified fluxes being and the specified persons being specified and		
	The security have been as smalling for others of Pary will be for you		
las constant for Y at 1	nedage Coupent is upint money to up have neuroscovel 2 and burdled 8 to your personal uses if wand approximity your handware in doubsying 4, wahite it is saing money to a burdled number of perges throughout the Lindon System.		
6000			
1	SPECIAL PRIVILEGE COLTON		
2	\$1.00 OFF		
2.	ANY HERBAL FORMULA		
000-580	-0230		
CEE			

Formula No. 6	
Ingracious that have been if stringsally used for	
ARTERIOSCLEROSIS	
Matt Medipalarit 1) Fiberit Letto 1) Fiberit Letto 1) Fiberit Letto 1) Fiberit Letto 1) Fiberit Letto 2) Fiberit L	
Formula No. 7	
FOITILLA INO. /	
ARTHRITIS/RHEUMATISM	
BADE INGREDIENTS 1) CHAPARAL LEAVES Descrive une science-warker	

BASE INGREDIENTS
1) CHAPARAL LEAVES
Detaives you said accumulation
2 BURDOCK ROOT
Depheratic for photosetion
B COMPREY LEAVES
Converse the pady truth Maguritan
O DANCELION ROOT
Partneyes biggt impurities and tonic
LI ACHE HUPE
Highest postent of natural Vitamia C
B LALLAF BAL NOCT
Further Instantion
TO BLACK CONDEN ROOT
Palence cheveralism per and engalism
and endings of bland
N ANGELICA NOOT
Elimenating wild acid by action on bidrent

Fermula Hz. 7 Continued) BJ PRICKLY ASH BARK Charlest of two Charlest of two Galaxies The Longs to prove ourgan 10 th Classical the Longs to prove ourgan 10 th

RYERTY	AMOUNT TO BE INCESTED
Acres .	1 Tablel every 6 hears, 6 a day
· .	2 Tables selly morning
	2 Tablete before bed
Chrone	2 tables prove they s
	& Tablets a day
Creme to Terminal	2 Tackets avery 2 hours
	16 Tatiens a day
This company is harbs	is to experimental and have present from
the body Cleansing the s	word of your acid. Also aqualized pircu
latest.	

For	nula No. 13
Incretions that have be	an traditionality used for provention of
1	CANCER
BASIC INCREDIENTS	
1) CHAPPARAL LEA	
Deadhes malignar	d turners
1) BLOOD RODT	
Pyriles and cleans	
3) REDICLOYER BLC	
45 BURDOCK BOOT	ONE DE CARCER
	Print Physics and hearts
SI REHISTACE BOOT	
A natural articles in	
4) GOLDEN SEAL NO	
Kins paraona jegua	hads perculation
I COMPERTLEAVE	
A CONSENS PORT	parties normal condultants
	i call growth and pull system in bai-
4001	one fammen fur bert abbaber te 28.
BY GASATER CELAN	Cum F
Arrest mangeust	
OTHER MOREDIENTS	
Pone. Persier, Sive V.	aleri Laaves, Lucoriste, Dangairan Root,
Cayer ne, Priceley As	. Garlic Cleaners, Bete Kola, Peri-
GENERAL DOLAGE	many. Crownd lay
Service Coston	AMOUNT TO BE INGESTED
Acute	1 Tablet over 1 4 hours, 4 hours
	2 Tablets saily marries
-	2 Tablets before bod
OVING	2 Tablets every 4 heurs
	& Tablets & dar
Over-c to Tarmonal	2 Lablets every 2 hours
	16 Tablets & day
There is an imbalance in p	a system the formula sets the body
fumore, killing the powers a	the system. Orsolving the malignant
the state of the posteries	(DOD) 114 (DOD)

Formula No. 56
Inc. advents that have been traditionally used for prevention of
VARICOSE VEINS
SARE INGREDIENTS
A very powerful addressed
D WITCH HAZEL LEAVES
Specific for variable value
2) ET. JOHN'S WORT
Cased har bursting variable value
4) BOLDEN SEAL ROOT
LI SAMAFRAS ROOT BARK
A pand tarrective for versions vicers
& FUCALYPTUS LEAVES
Very effective for versione voice
CTHER MAREPLENTS
Busiers, Wild Charry Bark, Rase Hips, Haveshorne Berries,
Science and Anthony's Purse, Shove Grass, Ginsong, Baybers 17, Yafan Dack.
DENTRAL DOLLARS
MIVERITY AMOUNT TO BE INGESTED
Acute Tablet every 4 heurs, 4 s day
er
2 Tablets before bed
Chronic
S Tablets & Day
Crossing to Territorial
16 Teperts a Cor

37

Exhibit 4

INVESTMENT SWINDLE





R Bren Fi.

and and partic fact	
Mint a more and	
Parties & Constant	-
Beilder P providenter Bart	-
the best states of the best stat	
Anna 21, 1171	
ar. C. B. Name	
Postal Inspector in Charge	
Status Jones Person Larvies	
Bernet, Hereinsteinen bitet	
And the second limited	
her it. tons	
Fur Die bast benites pears, Mrs. Callege Larstens ben bent symmethysite	
Annesd by new, J. Party Drawbird, of over \$160, 500 St., for the most part	
Prings Do and of the said,	
I have observed this ranks with the FM and it was at the magnetice	
of som al their against that I am bringing this surfar to the planting of your parties	
I have already below with the Abeta 7. Landon of your patter and 8 to at	٠
the programmer part of an uniting to your.	
an editment total in mand in law.	
transmin and the second s	
As the analysis descention, sale store, for. Counciled stated the	
supply prove a partial of parts on the suprementation that the basing tons to be	
breaked in vertice biantenes and stiller timbs. An investigation will place that	
Crosses and and a set	
Bro. Lorenzo is not place, anny other broaters of sector and book	
Statuty stat.	
Nr. E. J. Hone	
Auto 12, 1077	

ເວ 80



Exhibit 5



Panax, Protector Of The Sick The second secon

And S.Acs Понса Пона Вжила раска man The Par Her on the state prog File to Shill?

m whet.



39

N'S WORK, MACHINE, 413

1994 40 4303L WILLING HIM HAR 1994 (1 CLND MI 24 POTE 411) 4' 4 4 [71]

Longer (1919, 1921) - 1 (* 2010) - 10 (* 1935) 12 Deli al salari e a cara l'ara l'arant a bion 1918 : 1 (1921) - 10 (1921) - 10 (* 1931) - 10 21 (* 1921) - 10 (* 1923) - 10 (* 1931) - 10 (* 1931) 21 (* 1921) - 10 (* 1923) - 10 (* 1931) - 10 (* 1931)

Exhibit 6

Farmer & Carl

PHONY WORM FARM FRANCHISE

Member-Shipper



*****7.

Carlo Barros



I and done 0 Ameri 44 (st) and 4 band and partity materia for the state of the state of the state of the state of the state the state of the state of the state of the state of the state will be the state of the state state of the state state of the state state of the state state of the state state of the state state of the state state of the state state of the state state of the state state of the state state of the state

and man and an and the art and the set of the bar of the set of th

40







Chairman HEINZ. Mr. Nelson, thank you very much. Those were absolutely fascinating examples of how an apparently very large number of unscrupulous people prey on our elderly.

I gather from the first example, Braswell, that this company time and again gets in trouble with you. You mentioned there were 138 complaints, there were 50 products, there were 32 false representation orders, there were 15 consent agreements. Now, tell usa false representation order is something issued by you; is that correct?

Mr. NELSON. A false representation order is issued by the judicial officer, not the Inspection Service.

Chairman HEINZ. By the judicial officer. And then, the consent agreements would also be judicial agreements, would they?

Mr. NELSON. They are judicial agreements. They are agreements entered into between the operator of the scheme and the USPS.

Chairman HEINZ. So we have literally dozens of instances where this particular company has gotten in trouble with the law?

Mr. NELSON. Yes, that is right.

Chairman HEINZ. Now, as you are no doubt aware, Senator Pryor and I, and others, have a bill, S. 450, that is designed to give the Postal Service some additional power to deal particularly with the kinds of recidivist behavior that this exemplifies.

Are you familiar with our bill?

Mr. NELSON. Yes, I am.

Chairman HEINZ. Do you believe that it would be beneficial to the Postal Service in your efforts to combat consumer fraud?

Mr. NELSON. Yes, I believe it certainly would be, especially in two areas. You mentioned recidivism. At this point, as I testified earlier, an operator merely has to change his address or the name of his company, and he starts again. We would then go through the same procedure of ordering the material by mail and the judicial proceedings at Postal Service headquarters.

The provision in the bill, if they start the same scheme again, allows for the Federal district court to fine them up to \$10,000 per

day. I think that is going to be a tremendous help. Another portion of the bill that should be very helpful is our ability to go right to the firm and say, "Here is the cash. We would like the product or the service that you are offering." At this time, we order all of these products by mail. And again, as I mentioned earlier, many of these promoters will wait up to a month and some of them longer, before they send any orders, if they send them at all.

Chairman HEINZ. I think that is a point well worth making. Right now, you cannot go to the doorstep of the person who is perpetrating some type of mail fraud scheme, and you cannot demand and get a product. You are prevented from doing that by law; is that not correct?

Mr. NELSON. No, we are not prevented from doing it by law.

Chairman HEINZ. What prevents you from doing anything?

Mr. NELSON. George, do you want to take that?

Mr. DAVIS. As a practical matter, we could go to the door, and we could be thrown out. There is no sanction in the statute that requires anyone to honor a request to sell the product.

Chairman HEINZ. I misspoke myself. You cannot require that a sample of that product be delivered to you on payment of the purchase price.

Mr. DAVIS. That is correct, Mr. Chairman. Chairman HEINZ. And as a result, as you point out, months may go by-indeed, a lot of these con artists will deliberately delay sending the product, so that they minimize the chances of sending something to a law enforcement official like yourselves. Then after finally mailing the product, if they ever do, they can change their address, or just plain scram; is that correct, Mr. Nelson?

Mr. NELSON. Yes, that is true. Chairman HEINZ. And our bill will give you the authority to require, upon the presentation of the purchase price, the delivery of such products on demand; is that not correct? Mr. NELSON. Yes, it will.

Chairman HEINZ. So in sum, you think that S. 450 and the authority in it, will give you the opportunity to do a far better job of protecting the public from the kinds of ridiculous and clearly, very dangerous schemes that we have seen? Mr. NELSON. We feel S. 450 will be very beneficial if it is enacted.

Chairman HEINZ. Now, in the survey that the committee made of law enforcement and consumer protection agencies around the United States, we learned that of all the frauds that have an impact, medical frauds have the largest impact on the elderly. Other people have said, by the way, that these medical frauds, these products that are claimed to be helpful, grow hair, retard aging, and generally, do things that have to do with the fountain of youth, are essentially harmless, and that the Post Office should not be concerned with controlling these harmless gimmicks that may cost a few dollars.

In your experience, quite apart from the fraudulent representations involved, is there any harm associated with these remedies, and if so, what? Are they as harmless as some people claim?

Mr. DAVIS. I think in some of our cases—unfortunately it has been a low percentage of them-the product that is being sold is directly harmful to the user. I remember in particular a product we had some 5 or 6 years ago that was designed to remove facial blemishes, but in fact, contained an acid. If it were to be used near the eyes-and there was no warning of this on the product labelit would blind the user. But indirectly, many of these "snake oil" remedies that we see have the harm of misleading the buyer into believing that he or she is using a valid medical treatment to address a potentially serious problem, when in fact, that is not the case. They will be taking some worthless swampwater cure for ar-thritis, when they should be receiving competent medical help that might do something to alleviate or prevent the increase in damage of the disease.

I think also, the disappointment of the users should be noted. There has got to be a great deal of disappointment in anyone who falls for one of these things; first, because they feel that someone has made a sap of them, and moreover, they may feel that the system is working against them, that this sort of thing should not happen to them. It has got to be very disappointing, I think.

Chairman HEINZ. Thank you very much.

There is a vote on. Senator Melcher and Senator Pryor have gone and will return, shortly. I am going to simply turn over the gavel, while I go and vote, to Senator Pryor upon his return, but I will have to leave now. So Senator Pryor will chair the hearing when I return, following our "early bird" rule.

So thank you for being here. Just because I am leaving does not mean you should leave.

Thank you.

[Short recess.]

Senator PRYOR [presiding]. Mr. Nelson, I believe you have all of your group here. I will chair the meeting momentarily until Chairman Heinz returns, and we will continue.

I have two or three questions that I would like to pose. First, can you give us any estimate of the amount that is lost yearly to fraudulent schemes that are perpetrated through the mails? You may have had that in your original statement, but I do not know that I caught it.

Mr. NELSON. No, I did not have that, and it is very difficult to give that estimate. I could not really give you a figure and have confidence in it, because there is so much that is not reported to

Senator PRYOR. I understand.

What efforts at this time does the Postal Inspection Service make to educate the consumer in America about these fraudulent activities?

Mr. NELSON. We have for a number of years had a consumer protection organization within the Inspection Service that speaks to various groups throughout the country. They make all kinds of TV and radio appearances. They will talk to senior citizens' groups. We have a consumer protection portion of that program that tries to assist in resolving mail-order-type complaints where it appears to us to be a poor business practice as opposed to an intent to defraud.

Senator PRYOR. What ways would you recommend to the consumers, and certainly, the elderly, to verify that an offer is either on the level or one that is somewhat shady in nature?

Mr. NELCON. Well, there are several things a person can do. You can certainly talk to a friend or your attorney. You can contact Better Business Bureaus or chambers of commerce, in an effort to, as you say, validate the authenticity of the firm you are thinking of dealing with.

Senator PRYOR. I assume that the Office of the Attorney General in most States has a consumer protection unit or a fraud protection unit.

Mr. NELSON. Yes, I think that is true.

Senator PRYOR. What about the individual who has been "taken"—what should he or she do to minimize the losses, and how do they minimize their losses?

Mr. NELSON. Generally, in our investigations, I think, once you are "taken" that one time, I am not sure that you can do anything to minimize that loss. Usually, in the cases we are talking about, it is a one-time affair.

Senator PRYOR. So, the horse is out of the barn, and there is not much that can be done at that point.

Mr. Nelson. That is right. And it seldom occurs in our court proceedings that the offenders have any money left or any assets left to make restitution.

Senator PRYOR. To what degree do local consumer groups get involved in educating the public about mail fraud schemes?

Mr. NELSON. They are quite active. We work with many of them throughout the country, and try to dovetail with their local programs. It has been our opinion that they are quite active in consumer protection.

Senator PRYOR. I think from recent testimony, as I recall, I believe possibly before Senator Pepper some year or so ago, you or your people testified that it is hard to blacklist, if you want to use that term, some of the fraudulent companies because they are constantly changing their names from week to week or month to month. Is that still a practice that you are finding?

Mr. NELSON. Yes, that is still a practice. It is a practice that hopefully this legislation will help address.

Senator PRYOR. Where do you find that your hands are tied, in trying to not only educate, but also to enforce the law against some of the fraudulent activities?

Mr. NELSON. I do not think we find our hands tied in our efforts to educate. In enforcement, there are basically two areas that cause us a lot of problems. One, is that we order all these products or services offered by mail, and most operators who are dishonest or who are pulling a scheme wait until they receive the majority of their orders before they ship anything, assuming they ship anything. Of course, we have to get the product and have it tested before we can go through the administrative proceedings. It is oftentimes a month or more before we will receive a product, and during that 4 or 5 weeks, the consumer is still being cheated. And it would certainly help us to be able to go to that firm with the authority to purchase the product in cash at the time it comes to our attention.

The other area is recidivism. You just mentioned changing the name or the address of the firm. Under the current procedure, that is all they have to do to start again. And then we, of course, go through the investigative procedure again to arrive at another mail stop order.

Senator PRYOR. Is there any real coordination between other groups with the Postal Inspection Service? For example, what coordination between FTC or consumer groups, or the Better Business Bureau or State Attorneys General, et cetera, do you have?

Mr. NELSON. We have, of course, liaison with all the Federal agencies and the inspectors in the field work with State agencies. Another effort is, of course, periodically, we publish lists of all firms that we have obtained civil misrepresentation orders on, as well as criminal convictions. And we work with them in such efforts as the upcoming Consumer Protection Week.

That pretty much covers it, I think. Senator PRYOR. To your knowledge, are the consumer groups or Federal or State agencies experiencing financial cutbacks or budgetary cutbacks which hamper the effectiveness in combating this fraud?

Mr. NELSON. I have no direct knowledge of that, but I have certainly heard that.

Senator PRYOR. In October 1981, I held a hearing in Little Rock, Ark., on S. 1407, the Postal Fraud Bill, and at that hearing a newspaper publisher named J. E. Dunlap from Harrison, Ark., who is the publisher of the Harrison Daily Times, testified that he reviews each classified ad himself and simply refuses to run a questionable ad. I think he has done this for 27 years, and in addition, I think many smaller newspapers in our Štate make it a real point to check with one another about those ads so as to avoid running them. I wonder if this is typical of a grassroots effort, or is this an exception to the rule?

Mr. NELSON. I think based on my experience, I would have to say that is an exception to the rule.

Senator PRYOR. You do not think that Katherine Graham of the Washington Post is down there, reading classified ads to make sure they are not fraudulent.

Mr. Nelson. No.

Senator PRYOR. Well, they are different situations, and I understand, but it seems like that serves as a fairly good system in some of our less-populated areas.

One final question, and then I understand Senator Melcher has questions. It is my understanding that in later testimony to come, the committee will hear of con men who set up schools for cons, where they teach the tricks of their trade to prospective cons. To your knowledge is this pretty widespread? Is this the rule or the exception?

Mr. NELSON. I would think that is the exception.

Senator PRYOR. What about, is there what you might call a "con network" who share information in this whole field and provide information to each other to assist in these fraudulent schemes?

Mr. NELSON. I have a feeling that there is, but I cannot say that with total authority. That does come up occasionally in our investigations, especially in the type cases we are talking about.

Senator PRYOR. Thank you.

Senator Melcher.

6

Senator MELCHER. Thank you.

Mr. Nelson, you list during the fiscal years of 1977 through 1982, approximately 1,309 false representation complaints. And then, on the succeeding page, you mention under Braswell, Inc., of Atlanta, that between July 1980 and September 1982, 138 false representation complaints were filed, involving 50 different products marketed by Braswell.

First, of all, that 138 you list under Braswell, Inc., is part of the original figure, is it not, of 1,309?

Mr. NELSON. Yes, it would be.

Senator MELCHER. How many of these 1,300-odd false representation complaints were initiated by the Postal Corporation?

Mr. NELSON. Complaints initiated-George, would you like to answer that?

Mr. DAVIS. Well, the word "complaints" as used in this statement is talking about the formal, legal complaint that is filed by the Postal Service with the administrative law judges, for the purwere filed by the Postal Service.

Senator MELCHER. Yes, I understand that. But of those 1,309, how many of the complaints originated because a representative of the Postal Corporation apprehended the misleading misrepresentation?

Mr. DAVIS. As opposed to someone else first identifying it? Senator MELCHER. As opposed to a citizen. Mr. DAVIS. I could not tell you. I do not know. Senator MELCHER. Well, the point of my question is this: First of all, I would assume that a portion of these is first observed by representatives, employees, of the Postal Corporation----Mr. DAVIS. Yes, sir, that is correct. Senator MELCHER. I am correct?

Mr. DAVIS. Yes. sir. Senator MELCHER. But you do not know whether it would be half or two-thirds, or-how big of a group do you have looking at this within the Corporation?

Mr. NELSON. We have about 100 inspectors nationwide who are assigned mail fraud duties.

Senator MELCHER. Now, that is to apprehend mail fraud or to respond to a citizen's complaint? Mr. NELSON. Yes, that is right.

Senator MELCHER. Which? Mr. NELSON. Both.

Senator MELCHER. Both. Can you tell me whether these 100 employees are originating many of the complaints themselves; that is part of my question.

Mr. NELSON. They originate complaints themselves, based on publication monitoring programs that we have, where there is an ad that is obviously so bald that it is easy to see, like, "Take aging skin off your face in 7 seconds," or "Take this pill and increase your bust size six cups in 8 days,"—that type of thing.

There are about 40 inspectors who have assignments that relate to publication monitoring, that monitor assigned publications. I cannot tell you what percent of the complaints relate to cases brought by those inspectors from publication monitoring as opposed to those that come in the door from the citizen or the consumer.

Senator MELCHER. Is it easy for a citizen to file a complaint? Mr. NELSON. Yes, I think it is. Senator Melcher. At any post office? Mr. NELSON. Any post office, that is right. Senator MELCHER. And the Postal Corporation employees will not think it is an oddball complaint?

Mr. NELSON. No, I certainly hope not-and we get plenty of them in, so I do not believe that is the case.

Senator MELCHER. All right. And then it is assigned to somebody of this 100. Are those people located just here in Washington? Mr. NELSON. Oh, no. They are throughout the country. Senator MELCHER. The consent orders or the consent decrees are, I suspect, of a nature, if you will modify your advertising, we will withdraw the complaint; is that it?

Mr. DAVIS. Yes, sir, that is the basic undertaking in the consent agreement.

Senator MELCHER. And the other step, a stop order, means that the consent agreement could not be reached?

Mr. DAVIS. That is correct.

Senator MELCHER. And how many of these 1,309-and after all, this covers 6 fiscal years-I expect it is all of fiscal year 1977 through all of fiscal year 1982-of those 1,309 false representation complaints, those are formal complaints, and they represent those after there was a certain amount of screening prior to taking any kind of an action; is that correct?

Mr. DAVIS. Yes, sir.

Senator MELCHER. Now, out of those, how many were actually prosecuted?

Mr. DAVIS. Well, as these statistics indicate, there were 542 mail stop orders. A mail stop order can only result from the completion of the entire administrative procedure.

A consent agreement can be entered into at any time. They can be entered into at the beginning of the investigation or in the middle of a hearing; indeed, they are often entered into after a mail stop order is issued. Our interest under the civil statute is to get people to stop cheating the public. We are not trying to punish anybody. If they are willing to change their advertising and go forth and sin no more, we are perfectly happy with that. We will accept a consent agreement and we will remove the mail stop order.

We are not interested in drying up anybody's business. We are just simply interested in eliminating falsity from the advertising. So the consent agreement can be entered into at any stage in these proceedings or indeed, after they are concluded.

Senator MELCHER. Well, there is a criminal penalty, however, to the statute----

Mr. DAVIS. Not under this statute. There is a separate criminal mail fraud statute that has different jurisdictional requirements. None of these statistics involve prosecutions under the mail fraud statute.

Senator MELCHER. All right. Can you inform us, then, how many criminal complaints were pursued?

Mr. NELSON. I have 3 years' statistics with me. In fiscal year 1980—I will give you convictions, if that will suffice—we convicted 1,370 mail fraud offenders; in fiscal year 1981, 1,046; and in fiscal vear 1982, 966.

Senator MELCHER. Well, in effect, the criminal side of this is bigger than the civil side, then?

Mr. NELSON. Yes, that is right. I might expand on my remarks a little earlier, when I mentioned 100 inspectors. We have our fraud work categorized. Category 1 is what we consider the most important. That includes frauds against the elderly, frauds against the Postal Service, and a few others. We have 100 inspectors, roughly, who work only the category 1 fraud work. The total fraud work encompasses about 350 inspectors.

Senator MELCHER. Now, if I am an elderly person-soon getting there, by the way-and I receive through the mail a fraudulent document, I would have no difficulty asking you to examine it,

asking the Corporation to examine it—or would you insist that I first approach an attorney-now, I am talking about a fraudulent-well, let me give you a for-instance-a fraudulent document, say, in a real estate deal, and I suspected there was fraud involved. I received a document in the mail from somebody I am doing business with, but I have reason to believe that there is fraud and misrepresentation. Would I have difficulty getting assistance from the Corporation?

Mr. DAVIS. It depends on the nature of the assistance, I think. We do receive, among the thousands of complaints we receive every year, complaining about mail fraud, a lot of complaints that are not within the jurisdiction of the Postal Service. They are, perhaps, misunderstandings between parties, or they are perhaps actual cases of fraud, but fraud addressed really on a local or State basis under civil enforcement in the courts. They do not raise themselves to the level the Supreme Court has established for viable prosecution under the postal fraud statutes.

So sometimes our answer to an inquiry is not a candid, complete, analytical review of the document. Rather, it is a statement that says, "Regrettably, this does not concern proper enforcement of the postal statutes."

Senator MELCHER. Well, the proper avoidance of crime, of course, is punishment for those guilty of it, and one example sometimes saves a thousand people from a similar situation.

I am reassured by the fact that you are not only approaching this from the civil side of it, a stop order, or a consent agreement, but also from the criminal side, and I encourage you to be active there.

Thank you very much.

Senator PRYOR. Thank you, gentlemen. We appreciate your testimony this morning.

Mr. NELSON. Thank you, and it was our pleasure to be here.

Senator PRYOR. We will now ask for the third panel to come forward, which consists of Trooper Malcolm Murphy, Mrs. Willis, and Elaine Biddle.

Mrs. Willis, we appreciate you coming, and I understand you have your daughter, Mrs. Biddle with you. And Malcolm Murphy is a State trooper, I understand, with the Pennsylvania State Police. The committee's survey of consumer fraud has determined that phony home repair schemes are those that are most frequently perpetrated against the elderly today.

Our next witness is Edna Willis, an 80-year-old resident of Concord, Pa., who was defrauded by a group of traveling repair cons, and we welcome her this morning and her daughter, Elaine Biddle, of Pennsylvania, and Malcolm Murphy, once again, from the Pennsylvania State Police.

Mrs. Willis, for the record, is an 80-year-old resident of Concord, Pa., who, along with her husband, was victimized by a home repair fraud. Because her vision is poor, Mrs. Willis' statement will be read by Mrs. Biddle. Both women are accompanied by Mr. Murphy, of the Pennsylvania State Police, who conducted this investigation in the Willis case.

In many respects, the Willis case is typical of home repair fraud, which is among the group of frauds that the committee found to be most frequently perpetrated against elderly people.

This case is unique, however, in that some level of restitution was ultimately achieved. And we would, Mrs. Willis, like to hear from you at this time. And Mrs. Biddle, will you read her statement, please?

STATEMENT OF EDNA WILLIS, CONCORD, PA.; ACCOMPANIED BY ELAINE BIDDLE, DAUGHTER; AND TROOPER MALCOLM **MURPHY, PENNSYLVANIA STATE POLICE**

Mrs. BIDDLE. Good morning, Mr. Chairman.

My name is Elaine Biddle. I am speaking for my mother, Edna, because her vision is poor. She is 80 years old, and she has lived in Pennsylvania all her life.

Last year, on June 28, 1982, her husband was sweeping the driveway when three men pulled up in an old pickup truck. They said they happened to be in the neighborhood and noticed that their driveway needed to be resurfaced. Since they were already in the area, they offered to do the job at a bargain rate of \$9.

"My husband and I talked about it, and because it seemed like such a good deal, agreed. Five minutes later, two of the men knocked on our door, saying that they had completed the job and demanded payment. When I started to write out a check for \$9, one of the men stopped me. 'No,' he said, 'you have made a mistake. That is \$9 a foot.' He insisted that I write a check for \$320.

"Because the two men were standing there on either side of my husband, I was afraid of what they might do to him, so I wrote the check. You have no idea how helpless I felt when I was writing it but I did it to save my husband's life. No sooner did I hand them the check, than they ran out the door. I said to my husband, 'I think we have been robbed.'

"A neighbor got the truck license number and called the State police. I called the bank to stop payment on the check, but they were too quick for me. Within 5 minutes, they had already been there and cashed the check.

"The whole thing, from the time they arrived to the time they left took 45 minutes. When I looked at the driveway afterward, I found all they had done was to spray kerosene or some kind of oil on the surface. It was so slippery that you could not even walk on it. My daughter had to get some detergent, and we washed it away. Later, my husband and daughter bought some blacktop and resurfaced the driveway themselves. It cost us about \$50.

"Because of the work of the State police, we received a full restitution from a relation of one of the people who had ripped us off. But my life has not been the same. We had lived for more than 50 years in the same house. We had never had any trouble. We always left the doors open and were not afraid. After this happened, I had nightmares. I was afraid the men would come back and punish us for turning them in. My husband was upset. We began locking our doors.

They took advantage of us because we were too trusting and because of our age. They knew we could not fight back. I think it is terrible. They could never have gotten away with it with younger people.

"I hope my appearance here today will help someone else avoid the kind of thing that happened to me. I will be glad to answer any questions you may have.

"Thank you."

morning.

First, why did you feel compelled to write the check for \$320 when you knew that these men did not deserve it?

Mrs. WILLIS. Well, we did not feel that they did. We just thought they were going to do us a good turn. When they said \$9, I said to my husband, "Why, we can't go wrong." So, when I went to write the check out, he said it was \$320. And I said to my husband, "We have been robbed." That was it.

Senator PRYOR. And at that point, did you have a feeling of fear of these individuals?

Mrs. WILLIS. Well, we have had a fear ever since. Senator PRYOR. Did you feel that if you had not written the check that you may have been subjected to some bodily harm?

Mrs. WILLIS. Well, they were gypsies, is what they were. One was standing on one side of my husband—who is 82—and the other was standing alongside of him. And if I had not written the check out, I think they could have knocked him over and scared us, you know. So, I wrote them the check. Senator PRYOR. So, out of fear, you wrote the check? Mrs. WILLIS. Out of fear, yes.

Senator PRYOR. We can certainly understand and appreciate that.

You called the bank, I understand, immediately after----Mrs. WILLIS. And they had just left the bank when I called.

Senator PRYOR. They had raced to the bank after you had written the check.

Mrs. WILLIS. Yes; the bank is only just a few feet from us. Senator PRYOR. I see. And, Mrs. Willis, I understand that you and your husband were victimized by 2 of the 10 most harmful frauds identified by the Aging Committee's survey. Is it a fact that you were subsequently also ripped off by a certain insurance fraud or a scheme of that nature, and if so, we would like to hear about that particular situation.

Mrs. WILLIS. That was a medicare condition. He tried to sell us insurance for medicare. We took it out—I forget how much I gave him, but I paid him a downpayment on it. We never received it or heard from them since.

Senator PRYOR. Did they knock on your door and sell it door to door, or was it through the mail?

Mrs. WILLIS. No. It was door to door. They came to the door. Senator PRYOR. It is my understanding that it was possibly in the neighborhood of some \$800 that you may have paid for the policy? Mrs. WILLIS. That is right.

Senator PRYOR. And that subsequent to that, you or your husband, Mr. Willis, was admitted to the hospital and told by the hospital that it was a worthless policy—is that correct? Mrs. WILLIS. Yes; that is right.

Senator PRYOR. Mrs. Willis, we do appreciate you coming this

Senator PRYOR. I would also like to commend our friend, Malcolm Murphy, this morning, from the State police. I would like to ask you, Mr. Murphy, how you became involved in the case of Mrs. Willis?

Mr. MURPHY. Yes, Senator, I am a criminal investigator for the Pennsylvania State Police. Our barracks are located in Philadelphia, Pa.

On this particular day, we assigned a patrol officer in the area where Mrs. Willis lives to investigate the initial complaint, and as a result of what that officer did, the case was eventually turned over to me within a short period of time-in fact, I think, later on that afternoon.

The officer, after interviewing Mrs. Willis and neighbors, went to Southeast National Bank and determined that the person had been there and had cashed the check. He also made a determination, by talking to the teller, from the physical description, that the person used a Delaware State operator's license as identification, and that number was available to the patrol officer.

I got involved in the investigation and worked with the Delaware State Police in trying to locate this person. Within 2 days, I filed criminal charges against him in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. I notified the Delaware State Police that he was wanted and that we would extradite for this crime.

I was informed by the Delaware State Police that the address that was listed on the driver's license was a nonexistent address. In fact, I believe it was a vacant lot, if my memory serves me. That, of course, initiated another investigation by the Delaware State Police to determine how he had gotten a driver's license sent to a vacant lot, how he would have achieved that. At that time, the Philadelphia Inquirer newspaper, in checking for the police news, became involved with us, and we gave them the information concerning this scam. We then obtained a lot of press coverage, and the TV stations got involved, and it was getting a lot of coverage in southeastern Pennsylvania.

I was then approached by a confidential source in Delaware County, who stated that he had talked with the leader of this particular group.

Senator PRYOR. In other words, it was an organized group that had conned Mrs. Willis and her husband?

Mr. MURPHY. Yes, sir, very much so.

The intermediary, or confidential source, informed me that they were concerned that the State police were involved in the investigation. They stated that they did not know they were operating in a State police area—which tends to make us feel good—and that they were willing to make restitution and offer an apology to the Willises.

I discussed this with the district attorney in Delaware County, and I felt that we could accept the full restitution and the apology without a compromise. There were some questions about testimony, about trial procedure, and going on with this case, and the age of the Willises, and we thought that maybe justice would be served in accepting the restitution and the apology.

We also went to the leader of this band and, of course, in interviewing him, we ended up seizing a vehicle from him that was

wanted in the State of Texas for a similar crime. However, the determination could not be made as to whether or not he owned the vehicle; he had it in his possession. Ultimately, the restitution was made to the Willises, and the charges were withdrawn in this case. Senator PRYOR. Mrs. Willis, we want to thank you very much for your statement, because I think this is happening so many times, every day, across our country, and it is really pretty rare to have to them. I think testimony like this will help prevent other people from being victimized in the future, as you and Mr. Willis have

someone willing to come forward and state exactly what happened been victimized in the past.

We thank you, Mrs. Biddle, and we thank you, Mr. Murphy, for coming and sharing your time. I know how important that is, and you have performed a real service, not only for the Willises, but for all of us, and for all consumers who may be victimized, may be subjected, to this type of victimization.

So we want to thank all of you.

Mrs. Willis, would you care to say anything else? Mrs. WILLIS. Well, I just want to say we had lived there for 50 years, and we had never locked the doors. We used to go and do our shopping and come back and just open the screen door and come in. Nobody had ever been in there. Senator PRYOR. I will bet you lock the door now——

Mrs. WILLIS [interrupting]. We lock the door now, yes. Senator PRYOR [continuing]. Because of the fear that you must feel, because on two occasions, now, you have been victimized by people who have actually come to your home.

Mrs. WILLIS. That is right. Senator PRYOR. Well, I was just about to apologize that your Senator from Pennsylvania and the chairman of this committee was not available, but he has returned, and she has been a very fine witness, John, and performed a real public service.

Chairman HEINZ [resuming chair]. Senator Pryor, let me thank you for chairing the hearing in my absence on the floor.

Mrs. Willis, we welcome you to this committee. I am sorry I did not hear all of your testimony. But I do want to put in the record the articles from the Philadelphia Inquirer of July 7 and 9, 1982, that states with a great deal of accuracy, as I understand it, and a good deal of compassion, the situation in which you found yourself last vear.

[The newspaper articles referred to follow:]

VICTIMIZED—AN OLD DRIVEWAY-REPAVING SCHEME COSTS ELDERLY COUPLE \$320

Edna G. Willis' 80-year-old hand trembled as she filled out a \$320 check to get the two men who were standing over her 82-year-old husband out of her home. The third member of the itinerant driveway-resurfacing company, which had pulled in off the highway less than 30 minutes earlier stood outside by a blue

pickup truck with pumping apparatus in back. The strangers arrived midmorning 9 days ago at the Willises' home off Wilming-ton Pike on the Delaware County line in Concord and struck up a conversation with John Willis, who was sweeping his driveway. They offered to repave the parking area for \$9, got the Willises' approval for the bargain-rate work and sprayed a dark liquid on the drive.

[From the Philadelphia Inquirer, July 7, 1982]

(By Larry Lewis and Robert McSherry)

Then they said that the Willises had misunderstood, that the charge would be \$9 a foot. When the owners objected, they found themselves cornered in their living room by two men who Mrs. Willis said were making every effort to be intimidating.

"You have no idea how helpless I felt while I was writing that check, but I did it to save my husband's life," said Mrs. Willis, who bought the one-story stucco house 52 years ago, installed plumbing and electricity over the years and now tries to maintain it on the social security checks that she and her second husband of 19 years receive. "They could have knocked him over to get what they wanted."

Consumer-fraud experts say the Willises were victimized by a driveway-repaving scheme that can be traced back at least 50 years. Lately, authorities say, the con game has taken a more vicious turn because it is directed at very old people in small, country retirement towns.

"It happens every spring and summer," said Trooper Malcolm L. Murphy of the Franklin Center State police barracks, who is investigating the Willis case. "I think other people have had it happen and they are too embarrassed to report it."

In recent weeks he said, citizen inquiries to the State police about men offering to pave driveways lately have been increasing.

Mrs. Willis had the money in her bank account because, she said, she was saving to pay for a second trip to the hospital at the end of July to try to find out why she

has felt ill and unable to eat for days on end. "I had just paid my first hospital bill—\$1,000—the day before," she said. "My husband is worth more to me than any amount of money, but I could have used the \$320 for the hospital. Now I don't know what I'm going to do. I intended to stop payment on the check, but they were too fast for me.

The men cashed the check in less than 5 minutes. They drove about 500 yards up Wilmington Pike to the Southeast National Bank of Pennsylvania branch and used a Delaware driver's license as identification for the transaction.

State police have questioned one man in connection with the money taken from the Willises, but no one has been charged.

"The price has gone up," said Elaine Halford, executive vice president of the Better Business Bureau of Eastern Pennsylvania. "It happens every spring and summer, but usually the amount of money is smaller.'

Ms. Halford said studies of the scheme revealed that it began in the 1920's when a family in Florida began to roam north during the warm months, overcharging people for shoddy home-improvement work-painting, roofing, and driveway resurfacing.

That clan did so well, she said, that they encouraged imitators.

"Now they're working in the suburbs because a lot of elderly, retired, trusting people live there," she said.

Spotting an old person is like a gift from heaven to them. They're preying more and more on senior citizens. We get as many as 30 or 40 calls during the 3-week period at the beginning of summer.

"It's the same people over and over, and they know just how long to stay around before it gets too hot with the police. There's really no recourse. Once they're gone, it's too late.'

She said her office recorded one incident several years ago in which a family lost \$1,600 to a variation of the driveway fraud.

"Some men showed up and said they were going to paint the family's house," she said. "After they got their money, they sprayed the house with one gallon of paint mixed with 30 gallons of water. They were only there 1½ hours. When they left, they had paint on windows, fences, and neighbors' cars."

This is a scam that's been going on every spring in all of the 10 years I've been here," said John E. Kelly, deputy attorney general in charge of the Bureau of Con-sumer Relations' Philadelphia regional office. "It's very, very difficult to do anything to stop it unless you catch these men right in the act."

Even then it would be difficult to prove fraud, he said, because there would have to be no doubt that the men took more money than they were supposed to get for the work while not providing materials they had promised. The itinerants often use second-hand oil out of cars and mix it with soot to cover

the driveways, Elaine Halford said, and it washes off with the first rainfall.

"They use coal tar mixed with drained oil," said an operator of a local paving company who did not want his name used in conjunction with the shady practice. "It makes a very cheap mix. The drained oil eventually will make the driveway deteriorate.

"When I worked in western Pennsylvania several years ago, the farmers would contract with these men to work on the barns," Murphy said. "They would pay them up to \$1,000. That's a lot of money to pay to have crankcase oil poured on your barn roof."

No one is sure what the three suspects used on the Willises' driveway, but it turned the black asphalt brown, and there now are fine, spider-web cracks in the surface.

"My husband and a neighbor washed it off a couple of times with soap and water, and we hope it's all right." Mrs. Willis said. She said this was the first time that she or her husband, who is retired from

difficulty for them.

"We've never had any trouble," she said. "We've saved our money. We're independent. We don't have to depend on anybody for anything. And now this. "Those men had it all planned. I'm upset. My husband's upset. I had a dream that

is too trusting and less able, because of his age, to fight back.

younger people.' One more part of the episode sticks in Mrs. Willis' mind.

'As the man took the check and was leaving," she recalled, "he said; 'I'm sorry you're sick. I'll have my grandmother pray for you tonight.""

How could he do that?

A retired, elderly Delaware County couple who lost \$320 to a driveway-repaying con game 11 days ago got their money back yesterday, along with an apology.

State police investigators said John, 82, and Edna Willis, 80, of rural Concord, Concord Township, accepted an offer of restitution from an Upper Darby family related to at least one of the three men who the couple said had intimidated them into signing a \$320 check as payment for shoddy driveway-resurfacing work. The

couple said they had been saving the \$320 for the wife's hospital treatment. Trooper Malcolm L. Murphy of the Franklin Center State police barracks, who investigated the June 28 incident at the Willises' home, said an intermediary who asked to remain anonymous had delivered the money and assured the couple that the entire affair was "a mistake."

The Willises agreed that they would no longer pursue possible prosecution in the case, Murphy said.

"We contacted the victims and told them the decision was theirs," Murphy said. "We told them they still could pursue the prosecution. The normal State police policy is to arrest rather than make an attempt at restitution. But they indicated they would prefer to accept restitution in the full amount. There also was an apology that this all had been a misunderstanding.

'In this instance, restitution was the appropriate method of disposing of the case because of the age of the victims, their financial situation, and the medical condition of one of the victims. They need the money more than they need their day in court.

The Willises said the problem arose when three strangers appeared at their modest, one-story home off Wilmington Pike on the Delaware County line one morning almost 2 weeks ago and offered to repave their driveway for \$9. After the work was completed, according to the couple, the men said they meant that the charge would be \$9 per foot and that they were due \$320.

Edna Willis wrote a check for that amount just to get the men out of her home

because they were standing menancingly over her husband, she said. The couple saved the \$320 from their social security allotments because Mrs. Willis is scheduled to return to the hospital at the end of this month to see whether doctors can determine why she has felt ill and unable to eat for days at a time. "My husband is worth more to me than any amount of money, but I could have used the \$320 for the hospital," she said soon after the incident.

Consumer-fraud experts say the Willises had been taken in by a scheme that can be traced back at least 50 years, and involves overcharging for poorly executed

Strode's scrapple company in West Chester, had had to call the police to handle any

they came back here to punish us because we had them arrested."

Mrs. Willis said she knew that the men took advantage of her husband because he

"I think it's terrible," she said. "They know they couldn't get away with it with

[From the Philadelphia Inquirer, July 9, 1982]

\$320 Returned to Victims of Repair Scheme

(By Larry Lewis and Robert McSherry)

56

repair work. In this case, police said, the itinerant repavers apparently poured used motor oil mixed with cheap coal tar on the Willises' driveway.

The couple told police that the three men were driving a blue pickup truck with

pumping equipment in the back. Trooper Murphy said the men had cashed the Willises' check at a bank branch near the couple's home, and that they used a Dover, Del., driver's license bearing the name "Frank Mitchell" as identification for the transaction.

Murphy said a check on the license led to the Upper Darby family, which he said does repaying work. He said a blue pickup truck was found there.

oues repaying work. He said a blue pickup truck was found there. During questioning, Murphy said, a family member said that the Mitchell suspect for whom police were searching had gone to live in another State. This week, a man acting on behalf of the Upper Darby family approached State police with the offer of restitution to avoid further trouble, Murphy said.

Chairman HEINZ. I have one question about the people who de-frauded you. Were these gypsies? Were these fly-by-night types of operators?

Mrs. WILLIS. Well, that is what they looked like to me, gypsies. They had big moustaches that hung down around their mouths, and they were sort of dirty looking and careless looking.

Chairman HEINZ. Not terribly trustworthy looking?

Mrs. WILLIS. They just looked like bums.

Chairman HEINZ. And I gather they acted like bums, too, after thev

Mrs. WILLIS. Yes; that is right.

Chairman HEINZ. Well, I will tell you, it is my view that when we catch people like that, we ought to lock them up and throw the key away for a long time. They keep coming back; they keep trading information. They keep even passing your names, and others like you, along to some other con artist or bunco scheme person. They prey on some of the most valuable members of our community by taking them, and just as they did in the case of you and your husband, literally, stand them up against the wall and shaking them down. And that is not too harsh a term to use here-these are shakedown artists.

Mrs. WILLIS. And then, we got an awful lot of publicity, which we did not like. They had our pictures in all of the papers, and everybody all around was calling us to see what had happened.

Chairman HEINZ. And that is embarrassing, isn't it?

Mrs. WILLIS. And that was embarrassing and upsetting.

Chairman HEINZ. Every single instance of this kind of fraud involves much more than monetary loss. It, in the case of your situation, involves a considerable amount of not only embarrassment, but as I understand it, you had put some money aside so that you could have another visit to the hospital-isn't that correct?

Mrs. WILLIS. That is correct.

Chairman HEINZ. So, we literally are having senior citizens' lives and health being put at risk, when people come along and prey on them as this group, this gang of gypsy con men and shakedown men did in vour case.

I have no further questions.

Senator Melcher, did you have an opportunity to ask questions? Senator MELCHER. No; I have no questions. I thank the witnesses

for their testimony. I think it was very helpful.

Chairman HEINZ. Mrs. Willis, I want to particularly thank you. I apologize that I was not able to be here to introduce you. We are very honored that you were willing to come down, all the way from

southeastern Pennsylvania, and that you were willing, in spite of the fact that it is not very enjoyable-as you mentioned, it is embarrassing to come and have to get any more publicity on something. But I salute you, because your testimony will be helpful to this committee and to the Congress in devising ways and means and stimulating our law enforcement people to do a better job of protecting our senior citizens. We do not want next year or the year after to have another case like yours. I think it is a very tragic thing to have happen to anybody.

We are very, very grateful to you. Is there anything you would like to add?

Mrs. WILLIS. No; I just wanted to say that at one time I said to my husband, "Well, it did not pay us to stint and save our money, because now it is all gone," if you know what I mean. But then, when we got it back, we felt better.

Chairman HEINZ. Well, you have made all of us feel a good deal better by your coming here, and we thank you for all the efforts involved.

Mrs. WILLIS. It has been an enjoyable trip so far. Chairman HEINZ. Thank you very much.

Would our next witnesses come forward? I am informed by staff that Lemmie Wilson, an Ohio-based con who ran a "school for scoundrels," and Police Detective Garver have not arrived. If they do arrive by the end of the hearing, they will be provided an opportunity to testify.

We will now proceed with our final panel, which is Clair E. Villano, Terry Getsay, and Stephen Nicks.

Let me say before you start that this panel clearly consists of State and local consumer agency and law enforcement specialists. We are glad to have Clair Villano, president of the National Association of Consumer Agency Administrators; Terry Getsay, a criminal intelligence analyst with the Illinois Department of Law Enforcement; and Stephen Nicks, the director of the Office of Consumer Protection, Wisconsin Department of Justice.

And I might add that much of the battle against consumer fraud is indeed being waged by our State and local agencies, and had it not been for the cooperation of you, and people like you, on our survey to some 1,300 individuals with the same kind of interest in consumer protection and justice that you have, we would not have been able to have the fine informational base that we are going to be making available to our colleagues and that will be made available to the public today.

So, we welcome you to our hearings. We thank you for coming the distance you have, and we look forward to your statements. Ms. Villano, would you like to be our first witness?

STATEMENT OF CLAIR E. VILLANO, DENVER, COLO., PRESIDENT, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF CONSUMER AGENCY ADMINISTRA-TORS

Ms. VILLANO. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I run the consumer fraud unit for the Denver district attorney. We are the largest consumer protection agency in the Rocky Mountain area. When I tell you there are 11 on staff, you will get an

idea of the scarcity of resources when it comes out west of the Mississippi in doing consumer protection.

I am here as the president of the National Association of Consumer Agency Administrators-NACAA. These are the people who head the local agencies-city, county, occasionally State, agriculture departments, and other State offices, and we do have some attorneys general offices in our association.

We are the people who are eyeball-to-eyeball with the constituents, the consumers, the people who have problems, and the people who would like to see some relief.

Today, we are focusing on the older American as a special targeted population of fraud. I would like to introduce a thought that has not been expressed, which is, I do not believe their victimization is merely a function of calendar age. I think the people who are older Americans today, if we consider that they were raised and grew into adulthood pre-1920, had a world view and psychological responses that seem eons ago; these are people who trust, these are people who care about their homes, these are people who are very, very responsible. And so, I will not say it is because of a certain calendar age, but perhaps of a certain era in which they began their transactions with the business community.

Ironically, just as we at the local level are becoming tremendously more impressed with the number of seniors who are victims, our resources are shrinking. This is no news to you, of course. But when I talk about resources at the local level, please in Washington, understand-I am not talking millions, I am not talking hundreds of thousands—I am talking about offices for population bases of anywhere from 170,000 to 600,000 people who are running on \$70,000 budgets. That may be three or four people. A little quick division tells you we have people working for \$10,000, trying to do consumer protection, good people all, trying very hard. The problem we have, and what we hear from Washington increasingly is, "Oh, you people at the local level, you can do it better." We think we can do it better, but we cannot do everything, and we certainly cannot fill every gap and every responsibility that is being handed down to us.

I would like to tell you very briefly about three complaints that have come across my desk in the last 3 months. It will give you, I think, a flavor of the individual kinds of complaints we handle as opposed to the large-scale patterns, the mass complaints involving the hundreds of thousands of dollars, that naturally belong to the national agencies.

In June, an elderly Aurora couple read an ad: "Would you like an extra \$1,000 per month part time? We will help you start a home print shop, all supplies, for \$1,250, training included." Well, they lived on a pension and social security, and they desperately needed some more money, so they did, in fact, invest \$1,250. They got a discontinued model press, improper setup, no training, and a lot of grief. Six months later, they wrote to us: "We haven't made anything above expenses. We have taken in \$142"-a far cry from the \$1,000 per month they thought they might be able to make. "Please help," they said.

6

Luckily, we were able to use our civil powers and get the attention of the man who sold them this investment. We did get them more training, and I am happy to say that ended happily.

An elderly Denver widew was called by the furnace company who had installed her funace a few years earlier. They told her they were on the verge of bankruptcy, and they wanted to be sure she was protected with a warranty. The furnace man arrived, crawled under the house-where she was unlikely to go-and told her, unfortunately, all her lead gas and water pipes were leaking, rusting, and needed to be repaired-\$5,000. He wanted half upfront, but would take her \$100 check until the next day, when she could get to the savings and loan to withdraw \$2,500. Luckily, she talked to a neighbor. They called Public Service, who crawled underneath, discovered there was nothing wrong with the pipes, and called us. We were there the next day, body mikes in hand and such; the gentleman was arrested on the spot when he tried to get the money from the lady, charged with felony theft from the elderly, which is a special class of crime in Colorado. The case has been bound over, and the trial is pending.

Because furnace fraud is such a problem among the elderly, we have put out a special brochure. I want to tell you right now, I now know that brochures do not solve anything. They make me feel better. We try. We distribute them. But another brochure is not the answer to prevention.

And the last case, an elderly widow with a diabetic son to care for was contacted by one of these boiler room operations out of Florida. She was convinced, through this glossy type of material, to invest \$3,500 in strategic metals. Needless to say, within 1½ years, the firm's phone was disconnected, she had not heard from them. This also had a happy ending, thank goodness. We got in touch with the Commodity Futures Trading Commission and the New York district attorney. She got part of her money back. The lesson $\cos t her $500.$

Well, that is a little flavor of the kinds of cases that we handle. What are the implications at the local level? Unlike most law enforcement agencies, I think I can speak for all our members when I case, whether it is criminal or civil, we are playing catchup. The damage to the psychological sense of well-being has occurred and is rarely made whole again, and you have had good testimony to that. The law manipulator relies on the fact that the older American often will not know they have been victimized. If they do know, they often will not report, and if they do report, they are often very reluctant-indeed, often unable-to testify in a court hearing. The law manipulator knows this. They also know the fragmented sense of law enforcement at the local level; they know tightened resources; they know how to keep a low profile, how to keep on the move. The asphalt people you heard about are very common. It sounds like the Williamson clan to me; we chase them around Colorado every spring, and unfortunately, usually chase them into Arizona, and Arizona chases them on to the next State. But, at any rate, they are out there, and they are making good money at it.

say that our filings are often our failures, because when we file a harm has been done; the money usually is not restored. The

OK, enough about problems. What are we going to do about it? I am convinced that avoidance can be a learned response. I am convinced that we can prevent these. If people do not sign contracts, do not invest, do not send in the mail order, these folks will not be in business. But we are not going to do it by a brochure.

Our association has been working with the American Association of Retired Persons to see if we cannot put together a recruiting, training, and evaluation cookbook, a manual for local agencies to use to get older Americans from their community to be peer counselors, peer teachers of how to avoid these problems in the first place. You know, it does not do much good for some 30-year-old to be lecturing to older people, but someone from their own group who can just sit down and talk, do the advance warning systems to avoid these problems, I am convinced it would work.

We do not want Government for this. Please, do not think that I am asking for that. We are hoping we can get some corporations and foundations, perhaps, to fund this effort. You would probably say, "Why don't these agencies just do it themselves? My God, they must know the need is there." How can you ask Cincinnati's Consumer Protection Office, with three people, to take on a massive effort like this from the start, even though they know the need is there? Or the Colorado Attorney General-five people to do consumer protection for the entire State?

That is why we think if we can put together a cookbook, it might help. We are also trying to put together a "How To Do Cable Programing," that will appeal to the older American, maybe in a soap opera format, maybe in a question and answer, maybe a spinoff of the Phil Donahue type of thing. We think there are a lot of possibilities for education.

I would like to say that the Federal efforts do set a tone and they set a standard, but they are not a cure-all. I would like to give my compliments to the postal inspectors. In the 7 years that I have worked with the economic crime project, with the attorneys general, and with NACAA, if there is one group of truly cooperative Federal law enforcement people, it is the postal inspectors.

Now, I am going to turn it over to people with a different perspective. But on behalf of the local people, the people down there in the trenches, thank you for letting us come to add our testimony.

Chairman HEINZ. Thank you for being in the trenches, Ms. Villano.

Mr. Nicks.

STATEMENT OF STEPHEN J. NICKS, MADISON, WIS., DIRECTOR, OFFICE OF CONSUMER PROTECTION, WISCONSIN DEPART-MENT OF JUSTICE

Mr. NICKS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

My name is Steve Nicks, and I am the director of the office of consumer protection at the Wisconsin Department of Justice.

I appreciate the opportunity to share a State's viewpoint of consumer protection, and some background, I think, is necessary.

In Wisconsin, there is a very nice paper symmetry of consumer protection. We have concurrent jurisdiction with the local district attorneys in the 72 counties who have jurisdiction over consumer fraud to handle local matters. The attorney general's office, where I am, has jurisdiction to handle statewide matters. We look to the Federal agencies, the FTC, and Postal, to handle those things of nationwide importance, or interstate matters.

Unfortunately, in practice, this symmetry breaks down dramatically. At the local level in Wisconsin, the local district attorneys are understaffed, underpaid, and almost totally concerned with traditional, criminal-type activities. I do not blame them for this, and that is certainly where their priorities should lie.

At the Federal level, I share Clair's thoughts with respect to the Postal Service as opposed to the Federal Trade Commission, which we have seen in the last 1¹/₂ or 2 years, to have almost totally absented itself from the litigation efforts in consumer protection. What this means to us in Wisconsin, at least in the attorney general's office, is that we are in the middle of a sandwich of inactivity, and unfortunately, us in the middle-the meat, if you will-is getting smaller with respect to an increase in workload. Last year, our number of consumer complaints was up 9 percent, and our budget was down a real 12 percent. So from the standpoint of what we are faced with on-the two ends and what we have in the middle, we have a real problem meeting the needs of the Wisconsin citizens. I agree with the main findings of your study and applaud the committee for looking into this area. I will not go into any further horror stories or examples of complaints. I have submitted some written testimony, which I would like to be made part of the

record.

Chairman HEINZ. Without objection, your entire testimony will be made a part of the record.¹ Mr. NICKS. Thank you.

I would like to briefly talk about three issues-and as often happens in these hearings, as you sit through the first 2 hours, you tend to change what you came to say, and I think that is what has happened to me.

I would like to categorize my brief comments along three lines: First, the forgotten-issues; next, I would like to talk a little bit about the Federal Trade Commission, and next, about Postal.

In the forgotten issues area, when we, either State or local individuals, are dealing eyeball-to-eyeball with the consumers who have been defrauded, who have lost money, the important thing to these people is not any fancy enforcement action or any flashy. court proceeding-it is, do I get my \$10 back, do I get my \$50 back, do I get my \$3,000 back. In Wisconsin, at the attorney general's office, we received around 16,000 written consumer complaints last year, and were able to mediate a large portion of those and, through both mediation and our litigation efforts, return \$850,000 to Wisconsin citizens. At the Federal level, and a lot of other places, I do not see any real concern for a person losing \$5, \$10, \$15. If you are talking about complex economic analyses and whether you should start an action or not, you certainly are not going to start actions over \$5, \$10, \$15. But I think we owe these citizens something with respect to that.

¹ See page 64.

This is especially so in the mail order area, that I will get to when I discuss the FTC.

The last issue in the forgotten issue category is speed of enforcement. We have had two recent cases in Wisconsin that show that when you are dealing with elderly issues in a litigation sense, in a law enforcement sense, special problems occur. We just concluded an action against a seller—unfortunately, from Illinois—of very fancy therapeutic beds for \$1,300, sold door-to-door to elderly people; the kind of electric beds that go in all kinds of positions and have all these good health effects, et cetera. Our problem in that case—it was a very unusual case in that we went from start to finish in only 6 months—the real problem was that before we finished it in 6 months, two of our best witnesses had passed away. And from the standpoint of how you would have to manage one of these actions and how speedily you have to conclude the action, when you are dealing with elderly citizens, it is very difficult.

We have two more investigations going in the preneed sale of funeral merchandise by nonfuneral directors—door-to-door casket sellers, if you will. The investigation right now is becoming very difficult. This is a case I am personally working on. The investigator has interviewed 22 people who bought these things, and fully 35 percent of them have very little recollection of what happened no more than 3 or 4 months ago. So it is very difficult to build a case because you do not get any specifics from individuals.

I will zip along, since I see the red light going.

In the FTC area, we have been very active in Wisconsin with respect to mail order nondelivery. The FTC does indeed have a rule, and Wisconsin patterned a special statute after the rule, to put some teeth into the enforcement. I was somewhat bemused by Chairman Miller's testimony this morning that it is a priority enforcement thing with the FTC with respect to the mail order rule. We happen to have judgments against two major California corporations that did not deliver literally thousands and thousands of items to consumers nationwide. They are both, unfortunately, in bankruptcy. We called the FTC to find out what they were doing, because the FTC certainly was intervening in that bankruptcy, trying to figure out what is going on. And the word I got from the staff person in charge of mail order at the FTC was-he was very apologetic and said, "You know, we really only have two halftime people dedicated to enforcing the mail order rule." So I was very interested in how the Chairman sets the other priorities in the department and what kind of staff they dedicate to that.

Last, although I have not seen S. 450 in the postal area that you mentioned, Senator, if it cures some of the problems that the postal inspectors spoke to, the closing up shop and starting over problems, it would be truly appreciated. In the work-at-home area, the kinds of things that you see in the little classified ads, like, "Make \$106.80, working 2 hours a day at home—send a self-addressed, stamped envelope"—Senator Pryor spoke to that, in terms of getting to the newspapers. He spoke about an Arkansas newspaper editor who screens his classified ads to just refuse those kinds of ads. I think that is a super idea. We tried it about 3 weeks ago and sent 500 letters from my office to all newspapers in the State of Wisconsin, saying, "With respect to work-at-home schemes, here are the symptoms of a bad ad. We have never seen one of these things make any money for you." And it has worked wonderfully. Chairman HEINZ. Excuse me. Could you send us a copy of that for our record?

Mr. NICKS. We sure can, Senator. I will. Chairman HEINZ. Maybe we could get the Federal Trade Commission to send them out. [Laughter.] [Subsequent to the hearing, Mr. Nicks submitted the following letter.]

> BRONSON C. LA FOLLETTE, ATTORNET GENERAL • WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 123 WEST WASHINGTON AVENUE



OFFICE OF CONSUMER PROTECTION + P.O. BOX 7856 + MADINON WINCONSIN 53207 + HTPPHONE 6087266-1852

Dear Wisconsin Editor:

Recently there has been a spate of ads in Wisconsin papers concerning work-at-home schemes. These classified ads, which are drawing the attention and sometimes the participation of many Wisconsin consumers, are generally worded similar to the following:

"\$106.80 daily earnings working three hours a day at home. Your earnings are fully guaranteed in writing. For complete details and applications, send self-addressed stamped envelope to..."

In my experience of reviewing subsequent complaints from consumers who responded to these ads, they merely are invitations for your readers to spend \$15 to \$25 to learn how to place similar ads. Simply put, it is a pyramid scheme in which consumers rip-off other consumers. As you can imagine, it just doesn't work and almost all people end up losing on the deal. Only the original promoters (not those placing or responding to local ads) make money. Other variations on the scheme include the standard envelope stuffing plans and making craft items for resale in the home. The results are the same.

High unemployment has increased the susceptibility of Wisconsin consumers to the promise of work-at-home income. I urge all of you to adopt a policy of refusing these ads. The key elements to look for as you screen the ads are the promise of easy money, few hours of work at home and further contact by the consumer for more information. I realize that some of you have already stopped accepting these ads, but to those of you who haven't, I am asking your help in ridding Wisconsin of this type of promotion.

If you have any questions or concerns, please don't hesitate to contact me.

SJN:mak

January, 1983

Assistant Attorney General, In Charge Of Consumer Protection

Mr. NICKS. Those are all the comments I have. I would be glad to answer questions.

Chairman HEINZ. Thank you very much.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Nicks follows:]

STATEMENT OF STEPHEN J. NICKS

My name is Stephen J. Nicks and I am the director of the office of consumer protection at the Wisconsin Department of Justice. I appreciate the opportunity to come before this committee to share a State's experience in consumer protection problems of the elderly.

Although we are primarily an enforcement agency, we also take consumer educa-tion and individual complaint mediation seriously. If consumers don't know what their rights are, they won't complain; if they don't complain, we miss out on information needed to prosecute.

On paper, there is a nice symmetry in consumer fraud enforcement. In Wisconsin, the statutes envision local district attorneys handling "local" problems. The department of justice, with its 7 prosecutors, 7 investigators, paralegals, and related support staff, handles "statewide" problems. And at the Federal level, the Federal Trade Commission and Postal authorities step in on interstate matters or matters of national concern. In practice, however, this symmetry vanishes. Local district attorneys are understaffed and underpaid and deal almost exclusively with traditional criminal matters. The Federal Trade Commission in the last 2 years has largely absented itself from the litigation area. What results is the overload of State enforcement agencies such as ours.

To compound this situation, we in Wisconsin have had to do more with less. In 1982, we received approximately 16,000 written complaints, up 9 percent from 1981. In the last biennium, the department of justice has had its budget reduced by a real 12 percent. As the percentage of the elderly population increases, the negative impact of our diminishing resources will be painfully evident. Given these harsh realities, it's a good thing that your committee is taking a serious look at the problems and possible solutions.

The study unveiled today squarely hits the problems we see in our enforcement efforts. For the sake of brevity, I will list a few examples: (1) My office recently concluded a lawsuit against a company which sold mechani-

cal beds costing \$1,300 to the elderly and infirmed persons, by misrepresenting the delivery date, the credit terms, and the characteristics of these therapeutic beds. Large deposits were taken and some beds were never delivered. One of the victims was an 83-year-old woman, confined to a walker, who bought the bed to help her sleep. The bed provided so little comfort that she had to get up in the middle of the night and sleep in a chair. The company was enjoined from illegal practices, had to make over \$8,000 in restitution to 17 elderly victims, and was fined \$5,000.

(2) Complaints have been received from elderly homeowners who were approached by itinerent repair crews. Usually these complaints have the common elements of unsolicited contact at the home, low estimates for driveway or home repairs, unmarked pickup trucks, and demands for cash payment.

One elderly woman agreed to let three men seal her driveway after they gave her a \$12 estimate. Upon completion, they told her they guessed wrong and the job would cost \$700. When confronted alone by these three men she was frightened not to pay. They would not take a check but took a lesser amount of cash she had in the house.

(3) In another case, a Madison, Wis., hearing aid salesman was convicted of defrauding elderly persons in 7 Wisconsin counties. Visiting elderly in their homes, this defendant usually pretended to fix their hearing aids and collected hundreds of dollars in payment from each. He also convinced some people he could implant a new "miracle" device into their present hearing aids that would restore natural hearing. One victim was 91 years old and another blind. On at least 1 occasion he drove an elderly woman to the bank so she could withdraw cash to pay him. In

other cases, he took hearing aids away for repair and never returned them. A criminal conviction was secured and this defendant was sentenced to make restitution in excess of \$12,000 and serve 4 years in prison. Unfortunately, no restitu-tion was ever paid and several of his victims died before the case was concluded.

(4) Last year we saw the collapse of a large life care facility for elderly in suburban Milwaukee, Wis. At present Wisconsin has no law or regulation insuring the financial integrity of such operations. Over 100 elderly persons paid between \$20,000 and \$50,000 each to secure a place in this new facility which guaranteed "security

for the rest of your life." The promoters became overextended by using this money to attempt to build other facilities and the original venture failed, throwing the facility into foreclosure. Only then did the residents, many of whom used their entire life savings, realize that all the lifetime security promises were subordinated to the rights of the first mortgagee in foreclosure.

As with everyone else who has testified I could go on all day with examples and horror stories relating to the remaining categories. But since my time is up, I simply thank you for allowing me to speak today. I am more than willing to entertain questions.

Chairman HEINZ. I do have to observe that the one white light up on the clock means there is a vote on, so we are going to try and move along so that, among other things, the chairman can vote.

Mr. Getsay.

STATEMENT OF TERRY GETSAY, SPRINGFIELD, ILL., CRIMINAL INTELLIGENCE ANALYST, ILLINOIS DEPARTMENT OF LAW **ENFORCEMENT**

Mr. GETSAY. Thank you, Senator. My name is Terry Getsay. I am a criminal intelligence analyst with the Illinois Division of Criminal Investigation. I am a former police officer from Pennsylvania, and recently moved out to Illinois a few years ago.

Chairman HEINZ. We doubly welcome you. Mr. GETSAY. Thank you.

I would like to make you aware of the project that I run in Illinois. It is called the gypsy activities project. It involves a dissemination of what we entitle "Criminal Intelligence Bulletins." These documents contain photographs, vehicle license numbers and histories, and about 84 pages of narrative information regarding gypsies' history, culture, scams, investigative recommendations, and organization. We mail out about 2,200 copies to law enforcement agencies throughout the United States, Canada, through Interpol to Europe.

To date, 135 law enforcement agencies throughout the United States and Canada have informed me that they have used these documents to identify gypsies who have stolen over \$2.1 million; 97 to 98 percent of the victims are the Willises, if you will. The example presented from Pennsylvania with Mrs. Willis is described in detail in here, as well as well-documented throughout the United States. That is what represents the \$2.1 million. However, some of the more significant cases would include a \$250,000 home invasion which was committed by gypsies in Florida; an \$83,000 store diversion in Tennessee; a \$200,000 fortunetelling scam in Massachusetts. Home repair scams, such as the Willises, for the most part-and it may be hard to believe, but they were very lucky. I can cite many cases in the \$40,000, \$60,000, and \$100,000 bracket. To make restitution, indeed, she was very lucky again.

Part of what we do, the project is a clearinghouse-type operation. Law enforcement agencies submit information to us. I then rework it, print it into these bulletins, and they are then redisseminated. The State of Illinois absorbs all the costs.

Another part of the project is that I frequently teach and conduct 1 and 2 day training seminars. Most recently, I conducted one at the FBI Academy in Virginia, and a half-day one here at the Metropolitan Police Department in the District of Columbia.

Out of the 34 lectures, I have been in about 11 States, and have trained over 1,800 Federal, State, county, and local law enforcement people, as well as private security individuals. The office that I work from, on the average, I would receive and send about 20 forms of communication, letters, phone calls, et cetera, a day, requesting information, assistance, or direction in some fashion regarding the Willis case, if you will, that type of operation.

Thank you.

K.

Chairman HEINZ. Thank you very much, Mr. Getsay.

You have testified to something that seems almost extraordinary. It is almost like a plot out of a grade B movie, but I gather you mean it when you say you believe there is a gang of gypsies that is out there, that they are organized, and that they are indeed nationwide in their activities.

Mr. GETSAY. That is correct.

Chairman HEINZ. How many people are we talking about, and where do they operate?

Mr. GETSAY. Basically, the best estimates we can come up with are approximately 1 million gypsies in the United States and Canada. We are in no way, myself as an individual or the Illinois Division of Criminal Investigation, inferring that all gypsies are involved in criminal activities. The \$2.1 million was stolen by about 400 people. That \$2.1 million also represents 135 agencies out of the 2,200 who received these that got back to me. I personally believe the actual figure would be close to \$3 to \$5 million in the last 3 years. The total cases would be 300 or 400.

Chairman HEINZ. So you think there are about 400 gypsies operating. Do you have any reason to believe that their operations are linked, that they are aware of what others are doing in that area of the country, as opposed to the next?

Mr. GETSAY. Yes. To establish this documentation, I spent 3 years reading over police reports and also public sector documents. My master's thesis, which I am currently writing, is on gypsies and their criminal propensity, and I am frequently called upon to, in the course of giving my lectures, describe the organization. Now, when I say 300 to 400 gypsies out of here, that is the ones that we know of, where departments took photographs and then forwarded them to me.

They are indeed well organized. They are indeed cooperative. I can cite many cases where items have been stolen in Florida, and they show up in New York, California, Chicago. These people travel 40 to 70 percent of the time. The average gypsy male, who blacktops that driveway of the Willises for \$320 is estimated to earn over \$100,000 per year, and wears out two brand-new pickup trucks.

Chairman HEINZ. Do they, as far as you can tell, pick on a particular segment of the population? Do they pick on the eldery, for example?

Mr. GETSAY. Yes, sir. The elderly are your most likely victims, as has been testified to, and as you could see plainly with Mrs. Willis, the problems encountered by a law enforcement agency attempting to use Mrs. Willis in a criminal court case that might take several



at the FBI Academy in Virginia, and a half-day one here at the Metropolitan Police Department in the District of Columbia.

Out of the 34 lectures, I have been in about 11 States, and have trained over 1,800 Federal, State, county, and local law enforcement people, as well as private security individuals. The office that I work from, on the average, I would receive and send about 20 forms of communication, letters, phone calls, et cetera, a day, requesting information, assistance, or direction in some fashion regarding the Willis case, if you will, that type of operation.

Thank you.

Chairman HEINZ. Thank you very much, Mr. Getsay.

You have testified to something that seems almost extraordinary. It is almost like a plot out of a grade B movie, but I gather you mean it when you say you believe there is a gang of gypsies that is out there, that they are organized, and that they are indeed nationwide in their activities.

Mr. GETSAY. That is correct.

Chairman HEINZ. How many people are we talking about, and where do they operate?

Mr. GETSAY. Basically, the best estimates we can come up with are approximately 1 million gypsies in the United States and Canada. We are in no way, myself as an individual or the Illinois Division of Criminal Investigation, inferring that all gypsies are involved in criminal activities. The \$2.1 million was stolen by about 400 people. That \$2.1 million also represents 135 agencies out of the 2,200 who received these that got back to me. I personally believe the actual figure would be close to \$3 to \$5 million in the last 3 years. The total cases would be 300 or 400.

Chairman HEINZ. So you think there are about 400 gypsies operating. Do you have any reason to believe that their operations are linked, that they are aware of what others are doing in that area of the country, as opposed to the next?

Mr. GETSAY. Yes. To establish this documentation, I spent 3 years reading over police reports and also public sector documents. My master's thesis, which I am currently writing, is on gypsies and their criminal propensity, and I am frequently called upon to, in the course of giving my lectures, describe the organization. Now, when I say 300 to 400 gypsies out of here, that is the ones that we know of, where departments took photographs and then forwarded them to me.

They are indeed well organized. They are indeed cooperative. I can cite many cases where items have been stolen in Florida, and they show up in New York, California, Chicago. These people travel 40 to 70 percent of the time. The average gypsy male, who blacktops that driveway of the Willises for \$320 is estimated to earn over \$100,000 per year, and wears out two brand-new pickup trucks.

Chairman HEINZ. Do they, as far as you can tell, pick on a particular segment of the population? Do they pick on the eldery, for example?

Mr. GETSAY. Yes, sir. The elderly are your most likely victims, as has been testified to, and as you could see plainly with Mrs. Willis, the problems encountered by a law enforcement agency attempting to use Mrs. Willis in a criminal court case that might take several

days, and her ability to review photographs and pick out an individual and say, "Yes, that is the person."

Unfortunately, they are the most likely victims. Unfortunately, they do not believe in banks, possibly because of surviving the Depression era. They do normally have relatively large amounts of cash.

What we have to understand when we are talking about the gypsy criminal is that the overhead expense is minimal. He buys some kerosene and puts a little bit of oil with it. sprays a driveway. and gets \$4,000 or \$5,000.

Chairman HEINZ. Let me interrupt because time, unfortunately, is getting very short on this vote. I want to ask Ms. Villano, are there any things that you think

the Federal Government should be doing, either the Congress or through the executive branch agencies?

Ms. VILLANO. We hear the importance of the local agencies picking up. I guess it seems like we are ganging up on the FTC. One good thing they tried to do was to enhance the networks of these local agencies in order to stay in communication. We do not have Telex lines, we do not have computers that talk to each other. Almost everything is done manually. We do have an association that I represent, and we did have a newsletter, and the FTC did fund it. All of a sudden, that has disappeared. I am sure trying to talk them back into helping us keep up our networking so we can be cooperative with them, which we have been, and also get their news and do a more cooperative—each little agency acting as an island is playing right into the hands of those swindlers, con men and con women, who would take advantage of all citizens, but particularly the elderly.

Chairman HEINZ. So some kind of an information-sharing network that you could have access to.

Ms. VILLANO. Indeed. Chairman HEINZ. Anything else? Ms. VILLANO. I think that would help at this point, because I know that your pot is about as lean as many of ours.

Chairman HEINZ. Yes, this happens. Mr. Nicks, you have given some very specific suggestions, regarding speed of enforcement and regarding the amount of FTC resources being devoted to these problems. You have asked some questions about S. 450, and I can tell you it does indeed address the problem you mentioned. So, unless you have anything else to suggest to us, I would ask Mr. Getsay the same question I asked Ms. Villano.

Mr. NICKS. No, I do not, thank you.

h

Chairman HEINZ. All right. Mr. Getsay, do you have any advice for the Congress or for the Federal Government generally, as to what we should do to combat these kinds of frauds against the elderly?

Mr. GETSAY. I would say from a law enforcement standpoint that the response to this type of project—that is, the feeding in of information to me, and then people requiring that Federal authorities as well as local all respond to this type of project—works very well. There is an excellent sharing mechanism. The vehicle for express-

ing the information needed is excellent, and the response is quite phenomenal.

phenomenal.
Chairman HEINZ. I am going to have to adjourn the hearing. You have all come quite a ways to be here. Let me thank all of you—Mr. Nicks, Ms. Villano, Mr. Getsay—thank you for your testimony, and let me thank you above all for what you do day in and day out in your various roles. We are lucky to have public servants such as you who are so dedicated, and we thank you.
I know that the members of the committee and, more importantly, all the elderly, and all the other consumers in this country, owe you and people like you a great debt of gratitude.

5

20

E

Thank you.

[Whereupon, at 12:01 p.m., the committee adjourned.]



